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Consolidated statement of changes in equity 

for the year ended 31 December 2018 
 

   Attributable to equity holders of the Bank  

  

 

 

 

Notes 

Share 

capital 

Legal 

and 

statutory 

reserves 

General 

reserve 

Retained 

earnings 

Foreign 

currency 

translation 

reserve 

Cumulative 

changes in 

fair value 

Cash flow 

hedge 

reserve 

Tier I capital 

notes 

Equity 

attributable 

to equity 

holders of the 

Bank 

Non-

controlling 

interests 

 

Total  

equity 

  AED ’000 AED ’000 AED ’000 AED ’000 AED ’000 AED ’000 AED ’000 AED ’000 AED ’000 AED ’000 AED ’000 

             
At 31 December 2017  2,751,426 2,774,315 73,944 12,395,984 (816,215) 100,400 16,253 2,000,000 19,296,107 170,392 19,466,499 

Effect of change in accounting policy for 

IFRS 9 Financial Instrument 

  

- 

 

- 

 

- 
 

(905,787) 

 

- 
 

18,847 

 

- 

 

- 
 

(886,940) 

 

(9,464) 

 

(896,404) 

  ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– 

At 1 January 2018 (restated)  2,751,426 2,774,315 73,944 11,490,197 (816,215) 119,247 16,253 2,000,000 18,409,167 160,928 18,570,095 

  ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– 

Profit for the year  - - - 1,190,672 - - - - 1,190,672 (5,093) 1,185,579 
Other comprehensive income/(loss)  

for the year 

 

- - - 1,733 781 (142,182) (16,253) - (155,921) (144) (156,065) 

  ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– 

Total comprehensive income/(loss)  

   for the year  

 

- - - 
 

1,192,405 781 

 

(142,182) (16,253) - 1,034,751 

 

(5,237) 

 

1,029,514 

Cash dividend 24 - - - (550,285) - - - - (550,285) (6,370) (556,655) 

Transfer to legal and statutory reserves 25 - 6,281 - (6,281) - - - - - - - 
Transfer to general reserve  - - 8,737 (8,737) - - - - - - - 

Interest on Tier I capital notes 26 - - - (86,672) - - - - (86,672) - (86,672) 

  ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– 

At 31 December 2018  2,751,426 2,780,596 82,681 12,030,627 (815,434) (22,935) - 2,000,000 18,806,961 149,321 18,956,282 

   ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ========== 

             

At 1 January 2017  2,751,426 2,751,426 60,958 11,421,558 (852,315) 50,671 12,872 2,000,000 18,196,596 162,558 18,359,154 

Profit for the year  - - - 1,644,771 - - - - 1,644,771 12,435 1,657,206 

Other comprehensive income/(loss)  
for the year 

 

- - - (5,797) 36,100 49,729 3,381 - 83,413 1,403 84,816 

  ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– 

Total comprehensive income for the year  - - - 1,638,974 36,100 49,729 3,381 - 1,728,184 13,838 1,742,022 

Cash dividend 24 - - - (550,285) - - - - (550,285) (6,370) (556,655) 

Transfer to legal and statutory reserves 25 - 22,816 - (22,816) - - - - - - - 

Transfer to general reserve  - - 12,986 (12,986) - - - - - - - 
Interest on Tier I capital notes 26 - - - (78,022) - - - - (78,022) - (78,022) 

Other movement in non-controlling  interest  - 73 - (439) - - - - (366) 366 - 

  ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– ––––––––– 

At 31 December 2017  2,751,426 2,774,315 73,944 12,395,984 (816,215) 100,400 16,253 2,000,000 19,296,107 170,392 19,466,499 

   ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ==========  ========== 
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Consolidated statement of cash flows 

for the year ended 31 December 2018 

 
  2018 2017 

 Notes AED ’000 AED ’000 

    

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    

Profit for the year before income tax  1,243,536 1,702,290 

Adjustments for:    

   Interest on medium term borrowings  213,441 149,988 

   Depreciation 18 73,647 72,870 

   Impairment charge on financial assets, (net) 11 826,483 793,685 

   Net loss on investment properties 16 231,832 27,188 

   Net gain on non-trading investments  (12,637) (25,956) 

   Translation adjustments  11,500 47,671 

   Share of loss/(profit) in associate  3,944 (1,728) 

  ––––––––– ––––––––– 

Operating profit before changes in operating assets and liabilities  2,591,746 2,766,008 

Income tax paid  (50,622) (44,323) 

  ––––––––– ––––––––– 

  2,541,124 2,721,685 

Changes in:    

Trading investments  (440,304) (80,449) 

Due from banks maturing after three months  1,227,508 484,367 

Loans and advances  (2,853,189) 1,771,502 

Other assets  41,707 66,790 

Customers’ deposits  (1,249,711) 1,164,512 

Due to banks maturing after three months  154,176 (285,130) 

Other liabilities  (130,239) 47,338 

  ––––––––– ––––––––– 

Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities  (708,928) 5,890,615 

  ––––––––– ––––––––– 

    

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    

Net purchase of property and equipment  (90,851) (91,031) 

Net sale/(purchase) of non-trading investments  2,610,611 (5,800,340) 

Purchase of investment properties  (61,388) (38,439) 

  ––––––––– ––––––––– 

Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities  2,458,372 (5,929,810) 

  ––––––––– ––––––––– 

    

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    

Dividends paid to equity holders  (550,285) (550,285) 

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests  (6,370) (6,370) 

Proceeds from medium term borrowing  1,826,495 1,101,900 

Interest on Tier 1 capital notes  (86,672) (78,022) 

Interest paid on medium term borrowings  (212,354) (151,160) 

Repayment of medium term borrowings  (3,213,207) - 

Net movement in non-controlling interests  (9,608) 1,403 

  ––––––––– ––––––––– 

Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities  (2,252,001) 317,466 

  ––––––––– ––––––––– 

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents  (502,557) 278,271 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  6,358,543 6,080,273 

  ––––––––– ––––––––– 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 30 5,855,986 6,358,544 

  ========== ========== 

    

Interest/profit received during the year  4,804,068 4,311,095 

  ========== ========== 

Interest/profit paid during the year  2,059,326 1,517,369 

  ========== ========== 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2018 
 

 

1 General information 

 

Union National Bank - Public Joint Stock Company (the “Bank”) was incorporated in the Emirate of Abu 

Dhabi on 29 November 1982 as a Public Joint Stock Company with limited liability under an Emiri 

Decree and in accordance with UAE Federal Law No. 8 of 1984 (as amended). The Bank carries on 

commercial and investment banking activities through its seventy four branches in the United Arab 

Emirates, a branch in the Qatar Financial Centre (UNB - Q), the State of Qatar, a branch in the State of 

Kuwait (UNB - K) and a branch in the People’s Republic of China. 

 

The registered address of the Bank is Post Box No. 3865 Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates. 

 

The Government of Abu Dhabi, who holds an aggregate of 50% of the Bank’s share capital through Abu 

Dhabi Investment Council, is the ultimate controlling party of the Group. 

 

These consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Bank and its 

subsidiaries (the “Subsidiaries”) collectively referred to as the “Group”. The main subsidiaries of the 

Bank are as follows: 
 

 

Name 

Proportion of ownership 

interest 

Year of 

incorporation 

Country of 

incorporation 

 

Principal activities 

 As at  

31 December 

2018 

As at  

31 December 

2017 

   

Union Brokerage 

LLC (“UBC”) 
99.6% 99.6% 2002 U.A.E. Brokerage activities for 

customers trading in 

shares and securities on 

Dubai Financial Market 

and Abu Dhabi Securities 

Exchange. 

 

Al Wifaq Finance 

Company PrJSC 

(“AWFC”) 

89.2% 89.2% 2006 U.A.E. Finance company 

providing Shari’a 

compliant Islamic finance 

products through seven 

branches in the U.A.E. 

 

Union National 

Bank – Egypt 

(“UNB-E”), an 

Egyptian Joint 

Stock Company 

96.6% 96.6% 1981 Egypt Commercial banking 

related activities through 

forty eight branches in 

Egypt. 

Union National 

Bank (BVI) Ltd. 
100% 100% 2017 British 

Virgin 

Islands 

Treasury dealing 

activities. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2018 (continued) 
 

 

2 Summary of significant accounting policies 
 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial 

Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”). The Islamic banking related activities are in accordance with the Fatwa 

and Shari’a Supervisory Board rulings. 

 

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except as noted 

below and as required by the adoption of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (see note 2(y) for the transition 

impact). 

 

New and revised IFRSs applied with no material effect on the consolidated financial statements  

 

The following new and revised IFRSs, which became effective for annual periods beginning on or after              

1 January 2018, have been adopted in these financial statements. The application of these revised IFRSs 

has not had any material impact on the amounts reported for the current and prior years but may affect the 

accounting for future transactions or arrangements. 

 

 Amendments to IFRS 2 Share Based Payment regarding classification and measurement of share 

based payment transactions 

 Amendments to IAS 40 Investment Property relating to when a transfer to or from investment 

property is made 

 IFRS 15 Revenue from Contract with Customers regarding timing and measurement of revenue 

transactions 

 

New and revised IFRS in issue but not yet effective 

 

The Group has not yet applied the following new and revised IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet 

effective: 

 

 

New and revised IFRSs 

Effective for  

annual periods  

beginning on or after 

  

IFRS 16 Leases 

IFRS 16 specifies how an IFRS reporter will recognise, measure, present 

and disclose leases. The standard provides a single lessee accounting 

model, requiring lessees to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases 

unless the lease term is 12 months or less or the underlying asset has a low 

value. Lessors continue to classify leases as operating or finance, with 

IFRS 16’s approach to lessor accounting substantially unchanged from its 

predecessor, IAS 17. 

1 January 2019 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2018 (continued) 
 

 

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

New and revised IFRS in issue but not yet effective (continued) 

 

 

New and revised IFRSs 

Effective for  

annual periods  

beginning on or after 

  

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 

The interpretation addresses the determination of taxable profit (tax loss), 

tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates, when there 

is uncertainty over income tax treatments under IAS 12. It specifically 

considers: 

 whether tax treatments should be considered collectively; 

 assumptions for taxation authorities' examinations; 

 the determination of taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused 

tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates; and 

 the effect of changes in facts and circumstances. 

1 January 2019 

Amendments to IAS 28 Investment in Associates and Joint Ventures 

Relating to long-term interests in associates and joint ventures. These 

amendments clarify that an entity applies IFRS 9 Financial Instruments to 

long-term interests in an associate or joint venture that form part of the net 

investment in the associate or joint venture but to which the equity 

method is not applied. 

1 January 2019 

IAS 19 Employee Benefits 

Amendments regarding plan amendments, curtailments or settlements. 

1 January 2019 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 

Amendments regarding prepayment features with negative compensation 

and modifications of financial liabilities  

1 January 2019 

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements 

Amendments resulting from Annual Improvements 2015–2017 Cycle 

(remeasurement of previously held interest) 

1 January 2019 

IAS 12 Income Taxes 

Amendments resulting from Annual Improvements 2015–2017 Cycle 

(income tax consequences of dividends) 

1 January 2019 

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial statements & IAS 8 Accounting policies, 

changes in accounting estimates and errors 

Amendments regarding the definition of material 

1 January 2020 

IFRS 3 Business Combinations 

Amendments to clarify the definition of a business 

Business combinations 

for which the acquisition 

date is on or after the 

beginning of the first 

annual reporting period 

beginning on or after              

1 January 2020. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2018 (continued) 
 

 

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

New and revised IFRS in issue but not yet effective (continued) 

 

The Group has assessed the impact of above standards. Based on the assessment, the above standards 

have no material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group as at the reporting date. 

 

(a) Basis of preparation  

 

These consolidated financial statements are prepared under the historical cost basis except for certain 

financial instruments and investment properties, which are carried at fair value in accordance with IFRS. 

 

These consolidated financial statements of the Group are presented in the United Arab Emirates Dirham 

(“AED”), which is also the functional currency of the Group, rounded to the nearest thousands, except as 

indicated. The US Dollar (“USD”) amounts, which are presented in these consolidated financial 

statements have been translated from AED at an exchange rate of US$ 1 = UAE Dirham 3.673 and have 

been included for presentation purposes only. 

 

The Group presents its statement of financial position in order of liquidity. An analysis regarding 

recovery or settlement within twelve months after the reporting date (current) and more than 12 months 

after the reporting date (non-current) is presented in Note 3.2. 

 

(b) Basis of consolidation 
 

These consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Bank and its 

subsidiaries as at 31 December 2018. Control is achieved when the Bank is exposed, or has rights, to 

variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through 

its power over the investee. 

 

Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has: 

 

a. power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant 

activities of the investee); 

b. exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 

c. the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns. 

 

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there 

are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2018 (continued) 
 

 

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

(b) Basis of consolidation (continued) 
 

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the 

investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities 

of the investee unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing 

whether or not the Group’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including: 

 

a. The size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the 

other vote holders; 

b. Potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties;  

c. Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and 

d. Any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Group has, or does not have, the current 

ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting 

patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings. 

 

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when 

the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or 

disposed of during the year are included in profit or loss from the date the Group gains control until the 

date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary. 

 

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (“OCI”) are attributed to the owners 

of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if it results in the non-controlling 

interests having a deficit balance. 

 

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their 

accounting policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies. 

 

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions 

between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation. 

 

(c) Business combinations 

 

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred 

in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date 

fair values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of 

the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. 

Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2018 (continued) 
 

 

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

(c) Business combinations (continued) 

 

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their 

fair value at the acquisition date, except that: 

 

 deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements are 

recognised and measured in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes and IAS 19 Employee Benefits, 

respectively; 

 liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-

based payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-based payment arrangements 

of the acquiree are measured in accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the acquisition date; 

and 

 assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current 

Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that Standard. 

 

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate 

share of the entity's net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value or 

at the non-controlling interests' proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree's 

identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. 

Other types of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value or, when applicable, on the basis 

specified in another IFRS. 

 

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes assets or liabilities 

resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its 

acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the consideration transferred in a business combination. 

Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments 

are adjusted retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments against goodwill.  
 

Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during 

the ‘measurement period’ (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and 

circumstances that existed at the acquisition date. 
 

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not 

qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. 

Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and 

its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an 

asset or a liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial 

Instruments, or IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as appropriate, with the 

corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. 

 

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's previously held equity interest in the 

acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains control) 

and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the 

acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income 

are reclassified to profit or loss where such treatment would be appropriate if this interest were disposed 

off. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2018 (continued) 
 

 

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

(c) Business combinations (continued) 

 

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in 

which the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the 

accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see 

above), or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts 

and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts 

recognised at that date. 

 

Goodwill 

 

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-

controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in 

the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and 

the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable 

assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of 

any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held interest in 

the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain. 

 

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition 

of the business less accumulated impairment losses, if any.  

 

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units 

(or groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.  

 

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more 

frequently when there is indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-

generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the 

carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata 

based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.  

 

Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss in profit or loss. An impairment 

loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods. 

 

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the 

determination of the profit or loss on disposal. 

 

(d) Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty 

 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to 

make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and reported 

amounts of financial assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.  

 

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other 

factors. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are 

reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the 

estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future 

periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.  
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2018 (continued) 
 

 

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

(d) Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 

 

Critical judgements in applying the group’s accounting policies 
 

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations, that the Management 

has made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most significant 

effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements: 

 

Business model assessment 

 

Classification and measurement of financial assets depends on the results of the solely payments of 

principal and interest (SPPI) and the business model test. The Group determines the business model at a 

level that reflects how groups of financial assets are managed together to achieve a particular business 

objective. This assessment includes judgement reflecting all relevant evidence including how the 

performance of the assets is evaluated and their performance measured, the risks that affect the 

performance of the assets and how these are managed. The Group monitors financial assets measured at 

amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income that are derecognised prior to their 

maturity to understand the reason for their disposal and whether the reasons are consistent with the 

objective of the business for which the asset was held. Monitoring is part of the Group’s continuous 

assessment of whether the business model for which the remaining financial assets are held continues to 

be appropriate and if it is not appropriate whether there has been a change in business model and so a 

prospective change to the classification of those assets.  

 
Significant increase of credit risk 

 

Expected Credit Loss (ECL) are measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage 1 assets, or 

lifetime ECL assets for stage 2 or stage 3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has 

increased significantly since initial recognition. In assessing whether the credit risk of an asset has 

significantly increased the Group takes into account qualitative and quantitative reasonable and 

supportable forward looking information.  

 

Establishing groups of assets with similar credit risk characteristics 

 

The Group estimates ECL on an individual basis except for very small portfolio which is assessed on 

collective basis. When ECLs are measured on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped on 

the basis of shared risk characteristics (e.g. instrument type, borrower characteristics, portfolio 

characteristics etc.). The Group monitors the appropriateness of the credit risk characteristics on an 

ongoing basis to assess whether they continue to be similar. This is required in order to ensure that 

should credit risk characteristics change there is appropriate re-segmentation of the assets. This may 

result in new portfolios being created or assets moving to an existing portfolio that better reflects the 

similar credit risk characteristics of that group of assets. Re-segmentation of portfolios and movement 

between portfolios is more common when there is a significant increase in credit risk (or when that 

significant increase reverses) and so assets move from 12-month to lifetime ECLs, or vice versa, but it 

can also occur within portfolios that continue to be measured on the same basis of 12-month or lifetime 

ECLs but the amount of ECL changes because the credit risk of the portfolios differ.  

  



UNION NATIONAL BANK - Public Joint Stock Company 

 

20 

 

 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2018 (continued) 
 

 

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

(d) Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 

 

Models and assumptions used  

 

The Group uses various models and assumptions in measuring fair value of financial assets as well as in 

estimating ECL. Judgement is applied in identifying the most appropriate model for each type of asset, as 

well as for determining the assumptions used in these models, including assumptions that relate to key 

drivers of credit risk.  

 

Key sources of estimation uncertainty  

 

The following are key estimations that the Management has used in the process of applying the Group’s 

accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in consolidated 

financial statements:  

 

Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking scenarios for each type of 

product/market and determining the forward looking information relevant to each scenario: 

 

When measuring ECL the Group uses reasonable and supportable forward looking information, which is 

based on assumptions for the future movement of different economic drivers and how these drivers will 

affect each other.  

 

Macroeconomic scenario: 

 

The measurement of ECL considers amongst other inputs reasonable forecast of future events and 

macroeconomic events. The ECL tends to increase or decrease based on the severity of the forecast. The 

estimation and determination of any macroeconomic forecast requires significant judgement.  

 

The Group uses macroeconomic scenario forecast to estimate ECL under IFRS 9. To avoid conflict of 

interest, the Group subscribes to a macro-economic scenario forecast from a reputed third-party. This 

provides for unbiased third party estimates of future macroeconomic scenarios that shall be the key 

determinants of ECL estimation.  

 

The scenario set used for the calculations consisted of a baseline scenario, an upside scenario and a 

downturn scenario. The scenarios are available with a forecast frequency of both monthly and quarterly.  

 

Each scenario contains forecasts of constituent macro variables including the weighting of downside, 

baseline and upside scenarios. 

 

Expected Life: 

 

When measuring ECL, the Group considers the maximum contractual period over which it is exposed to 

credit risk. Prepayment options are not considered while expected rollovers or extensions, especially for 

identified stage 2 customers is considered on a more conservative basis. For revolving credit facilities, 

limit expiry is considered as the expected life while the life for any overdue asset is considered to be a 

minimum of 1.5 years on a conservative basis.  
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2018 (continued) 
 

 

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

(d) Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 

 

Staging and ECL determination principles 

 

─ Stage 1: All regular accounts and accounts with past-due if any of less than 30 days are generally 

grouped here. 
─ Stage 2: All accounts with past-dues between 31 to 90 days and watch list accounts are grouped 

here. 
─ Stage 3: All accounts with past-due of greater than 90 days are grouped here. 
─ Retail accounts with past-due of greater than 180 days are defaulted to 100 % ECL. 

 
Impairment of goodwill 
 

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-

generating units to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires estimate of 

future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to 

calculate the present value. The Group uses a discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the 

time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Where the actual future cash flows are less than 

expected, a material impairment loss may arise. 
 

Impairment of property and equipment 
 

The Group determines whether property and equipment are impaired when events indicate that the 

carrying amount may not be recoverable. This requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of the 

property and equipment as of the reporting date. Estimation of the recoverable amount requires a 

comparison of the property and equipment’s value in use with its fair value less costs to sell. Calculation 

of the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the 

property and equipment and determination of a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present 

value of those cash flows. The increase in the carrying amount of property and equipment attributable to 

a reversal of an impairment loss shall not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined 

had no impairment loss been recognised for the assets in prior years. 
 

Fair value of financial instruments 
 

Where the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded on the consolidated statement of 

financial position cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using a variety of valuation 

techniques that include the use of mathematical models.  
 

The inputs to these models are derived from observable market data where possible, but if this is not 

available, judgement is required to establish fair values. The judgments include considerations of 

liquidity and model inputs such as volatility for longer–dated derivatives and discount rates, prepayment 

rates and default rate assumptions for asset-backed securities. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2018 (continued) 
 

 

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(d) Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 
 

Useful lives and residual values of property and equipment  
 

The useful lives and residual values of property and equipment are based on management’s judgment of 

the historical pattern of useful lives and the general standards in the industry. The useful lives used to 

depreciate assets relate to the future performance of the assets acquired and management’s judgement of 

the period over which economic benefit will be derived from the asset. Management has reviewed the 

residual values and the estimated useful lives of assets in accordance with the relevant IFRSs and has 

determined that these expectations do not significantly differ from previous estimates. 

 
Fair value of investment properties and investment properties under development 

 

The fair value of investment properties is determined by independent real estate valuation experts using 

recognised valuation methods. These methods comprise the Comparable Method and Residual Value 

Method. 

 

The Comparable Method utilizes the evidence of transactions or current asking prices of similar sites in 

the immediate vicinity and, if appropriate, applies adjustments to the sales figures based on market 

research and discussion with independent agents. 

 

The key assumptions used are as follows: 

 

 Range 

 2018 2017 

Selling price per square foot for apartments AED 650 - AED 1,250 AED 700 - AED 1,450 

Selling price per square foot for retail units AED 900 - AED 1,050 AED 1,675 - AED 3,100 

 

The Residual Value Method requires the use of estimates such as future cash flows from assets 

(comprising of selling and leasing rates, future revenue streams, construction costs and associated 

professional fees, and financing cost, etc.), targeted internal rate of return and developer’s risk and 

targeted profit. These estimates are based on local market conditions existing at the end of the reporting 

period. 

 

Classification of properties 

 

In the process of classifying properties, management has made various judgments. Judgment is needed to 

determine whether a property qualifies as an investment property, property and equipment and/or property 

held for resale. The Group develops criteria so that it can exercise that judgment consistently in 

accordance with the definitions of investment property, property and equipment and/or property held for 

resale. In making its judgment, management considered the detailed criteria and related guidance for the 

classification of properties as set out in IAS 2, IAS 16 and IAS 40, and in particular, the intended usage of 

property as determined by the management. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2018 (continued) 
 

 

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

(e) Financial instruments 

 

The Group initially recognises financial assets or financial liabilities designated at fair value through 

profit or loss, investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) and 

investments measured at amortised cost on the trade date at which the Group becomes a party to the 

contractual provisions of the instrument. 

 

Loans and advances, deposits, debt securities issued, borrowings and subordinated liabilities are 

recognised on the day they are originated. 

 

When the transaction price differs from the fair value of other observable current market transactions in 

the same instrument, or based on a valuation technique whose variables include only data from observable 

markets, the Group immediately recognises the difference between the transaction price and fair value (a 

Day 1 profit or loss) in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. In cases where fair value is determined 

using data which is not observable, the difference between the transaction price and model value is only 

recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when the inputs become observable, or when the 

instrument is derecognised. 

 

(i) Financial assets 

 

Classification (accounting policy from 1 January 2018) 

 

For the purposes of classifying financial assets, an instrument is an 'equity instrument' if it is a non­ 

derivative and meets the definition of 'equity' for the issuer except for certain non-derivative puttable 

instruments presented as equity by the issuer. All other non-derivative financial assets are 'debt 

instruments'. 

 

The Group classifies financial assets as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through other 

comprehensive income or fair value through profit or loss on the basis of both: 

 

(a) the entity's business model for managing the financial assets; and 

(b) the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset. 

 

Financial assets at amortised cost 

 

A financial asset measured at amortised cost are categorised under such category if both of the following 

conditions are met: 

 

(a) the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in 

order to collect contractual cash flows; and 

(b) the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

 

Debt instruments, including loans and advances and Islamic financing and investments products, are 

measured at amortised cost if both the conditions mentioned above are met. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2018 (continued) 
 

 

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

(e) Financial instruments (continued) 

 

Classification (accounting policy from 1 January 2018) (continued) 

 

Financial assets at amortised cost (continued) 

 

When the transaction price differs from the fair value of other observable current market transactions in 

the same instrument, or based on a valuation technique whose variables include only data from observable 

markets, the Group immediately recognises the difference between the transaction price and fair value (a 

Day 1 profit or loss) in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. In cases where fair value is determined 

using data which is not observable, the difference between the transaction price and model value is only 

recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when the inputs become observable, or when the 

instrument is derecognised. 

 

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) 
  
At initial recognition, the Group can make an irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) 

to designate investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI. Designation at FVTOCI is not permitted if 

the equity investment is held for trading. 
 

A financial asset is held for trading if: 
 

─ it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; 

─ on initial recognition  it is part  of a portfolio of identified  financial instruments that the Group 

manages together and has evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or 

─ it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument or a financial 

guarantee. 
 

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. 

Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value 

recognised in consolidated statement of comprehensive income and accumulated in the investments 

revaluation reserve. When the asset is disposed off, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated 

in the investments revaluation reserve is not transferred to consolidated statement of profit or loss, but is 

reclassified to retained earnings. 
 

Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are recognised in the consolidated statement of 

profit or loss when the Group's right to receive the dividends is established in accordance with IFRS 15 

Revenue from Contracts with Customers, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the 

cost of the investment. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2018 (continued) 
 

 

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(e) Financial instruments (continued) 
 

(i) Financial assets (continued) 

 

Classification (accounting policy from 1 January 2018) (continued) 

 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 
 

A financial asset shall be measured at fair value through profit or loss unless it is measured at amortised 

cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income. However, the Group may make an irrevocable 

election at initial recognition for particular investments in equity instruments that would otherwise be 

measured at fair value through profit or loss to present subsequent changes in fair value in other 

comprehensive income. 
 

Debt instruments that do not meet the amortised cost criteria are measured at FVTPL. In addition, debt 

instruments that meet the amortised cost criteria but are designated as at FVTPL are measured at FVTPL. 

A debt instrument may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if such designation eliminates 

or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would arise from measuring 

assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them on different basis. 
 

Debt instruments are reclassified from amortised cost to FVTPL when the business model is changed 

such that the amortised cost criteria are no longer met. Reclassification of debt instruments that are 

designated as at FVTPL on initial recognition is not allowed. Irrevocable designation of financial assets 

at FVTPL at initial recognition is made by the Group only if by doing so it eliminates or significantly 

reduces measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or 

liabilities or recognizing the gains and losses on them on different basis. 

 
Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any gains 

or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. The net 

gain or loss recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss is included in the  'net  investment 

income' line item.  
 

Dividend income on investments in equity instruments at FVTPL is recognised in the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss when the Group's right to receive the dividends is established in accordance 

with IFRS and is included in the 'net investment income' line item. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2018 (continued) 
 

 

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(e) Financial instruments (continued) 
 

(i) Financial assets (continued) 
 

Classification (accounting policy until 31 December 2017) 
 

The Group classifies its financial instruments in the following categories: Financial assets or financial 

liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, available for sale investments and 

held to maturity investments. Management determines the classification of financial instruments at the 

time of initial recognition. 

 

Financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

 

This category has two sub-categories: financial assets or financial liabilities held for trading and those 

designated at fair value through profit or loss at inception. A financial asset or financial liability is 

classified as held for trading if acquired principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the short 

term. The Group has designated financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

when either the assets or liabilities are managed, evaluated and reported internally on a fair value basis; 

or the designation eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch which would otherwise 

arise; or the asset or liability contains an embedded derivative that significantly modifies the cash flows 

that would otherwise be required under the contract. Derivatives are also categorised as fair value 

through profit or loss unless they are designated hedges. 
 

Loans and receivables 
 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 

not quoted in an active market and that the Group does not intend to sell immediately or in the near term. 

Loans and receivables includes cash and balances with central banks, due from banks and loans and 

advances that are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. 

 

Held to maturity investments 
 

Held to maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and 

fixed maturity and the Group’s management has the positive intention and the ability to hold to maturity. 
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for the year ended 31 December 2018 (continued) 
 

 

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

(e) Financial instruments (continued) 

 

(i) Financial assets (continued) 

 

Classification (accounting policy until 31 December 2017) (continued) 

 

Available for sale investments 

 

Non-derivative financial assets that are not classified under any other category of financial assets are 

classified as available for sale. 

 

Other financial liabilities 

 

Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 

method. The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability 

and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that 

exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that from 

an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through 

the expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the net carrying 

amount on initial recognition. 

 

Reclassifications 

 

If the business model under which the Group holds financial assets changes, the financial assets affected 

are reclassified. The classification and measurement requirements related to the new category apply 

prospectively from the first day of the first reporting period following the change in business model that 

results in reclassifying the Group’s financial assets. During the current financial year and previous 

accounting period there was no change in the business model under which the Group holds financial 

assets and therefore no reclassifications were made. Changes in contractual cash flows are considered 

under the accounting policy on Modification and derecognition of financial assets described below. 

 

Write-off 

 

Loans and debt securities are written off when the Group has no reasonable expectations of recovering 

the financial asset (either in its entirety or a portion of it). This is the case when the Group determines that 

the borrower does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay 

the amounts subject to the write-off. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. The Group may apply 

enforcement activities to financial assets written off. Recoveries resulting from the Group’s enforcement 

activities will result in impairment gains. 
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for the year ended 31 December 2018 (continued) 
 

 

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

(e) Financial instruments (continued) 

 

(i) Financial assets (continued) 

 

Impairment (accounting policy from 1 January 2018) 

 

Measurement  

 

Under IFRS 9 the loss allowance remains based on the expected losses from defaults over the next 12 

months unless there is a significant increase in credit risk. If there is a significant increase in credit risk, 

the allowance is measured as the present value of all credit losses projected for the instrument over its 

full lifetime. The Group uses statistical approaches to asses PD and LGD which are the key determinants 

in ECL estimation.  

 

Probability of default (PD) 

 

PD constitutes a key input in measuring ECL. PD is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given 

time horizon, the calculation of which includes historical data, assumptions and expectations of future 

conditions.  

 

Loss Given Default (LGD)  

 

LGD is an estimate of the loss arising on default. It is based on the difference between the contractual 

cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive, taking into account cash flows from 

collateral and integral credit enhancements. 

 

Specific details of PD and LGD assessment for retail portfolio and wholesale portfolio is provided below: 

  

I. PD and LGD estimation for Retail Portfolio:   

 

The ECL estimation for retail portfolio entailed determination of probability of default (PD), exposure at 

default (EAD) and loss given default (LGD) based on the historical data. Separate models have been 

constructed for personal finance and credit card portfolios.  

 

Historical facility level data was used for modelling PD and LGDs with the data used for modelling 

including multiple fields comprising Consumer Characteristics, Facility Level characteristics, Loan 

Maturity, Consumer / Loan Characteristics and Macro-economic factors. 

 

LGD methodology 

 

LGD is computed based on default balance and recoveries. For the purpose of model construction, 

neither cures not multiple defaults were considered. The first default event is considered terminal status 

of a facility. Facilities that entered default remained in default for the duration of their time in the dataset.  
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

(e) Financial instruments (continued) 

 

(i) Financial assets (continued) 

 

Impairment (accounting policy from 1 January 2018) (continued) 

 

II. ECL Estimation for Wholesale Portfolio:   

 

For estimating PD and LGDs for the wholesale portfolio comprising corporate loans, due from banks and 

investment portfolio, the Group implemented forward-looking point in time expected loss calculation 

incorporating portfolio data and economic scenario analysis.  

 

The model uses PD, LGD and EAD estimates to calculate ECL for each instrument by combining 

multiplicatively to provide ECL. Since the ECL is required over varying time horizons the model 

generate point in time (PIT) term structures of the three ECL driving components under different 

macroeconomic scenarios.  

 

The results from each scenario are weighted by the probability of the scenario itself materializing, to 

derive the weighted average ECL under the multiple scenario analysis and arrive at a final ECL estimate.  

 

Through the Cycle PDs 

 

For estimating through the cycle (TTC) PD of a borrower, the Group has implemented rating models to 

assess risks falling under multiple asset classes. 

 

The rating model provides the TTC PDs that are already mapped to external credit agency (ECA) ratings 

and allied PDs. For obligors not rated through the Group’s internal ratings (viz. investment portfolio 

bonds), their external ratings were used. Portfolio weighted PDs were used for a small portfolio that 

could not be rated through the internal rating models or had external ratings. 

 

Impairment (accounting policy until 31 December 2017) 

 

Financial assets 

 

Loans and advances 
 

The recoverable amount of loans and advances is calculated as the present value of the expected future 

cash flows, discounted at the instrument’s original effective interest rate. Short-term balances are not 

discounted. Loans and advances are presented net of impairment allowances. Specific impairment 

allowances are made against the carrying amount of loans and advances that are identified as being 

impaired based upon regular reviews of outstanding balances to reduce these loans and advances to their 

recoverable amounts. Collective impairment allowances are maintained to reduce the carrying amount of 

portfolios of similar loans and advances to their estimated recoverable amounts at the reporting date. 

Changes in the allowance account are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. When a 

loan is known to be irrecoverable, and all the necessary legal procedures as required have been 

completed, the final loss is determined and the loan is written off. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(e) Financial instruments (continued) 
 

(i) Financial assets (continued) 
 

Impairment (accounting policy until 31 December 2017) (continued) 
 

Loans and advances (continued) 
 

If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 

objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised 

impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment 

at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the 

impairment not been recognised. 
 

Held to maturity investments 
 

Impairment losses on held to maturity investments carried at amortised cost are measured as the 

difference between the carrying amount and the present value of estimated cash flows discounted at the 

original effective interest rate. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss and reflected in an 

allowance account against such financial assets. When a subsequent event causes the amount of 

impairment loss to decrease, the impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss. 
 

Available for sale investments 
 

Impairment losses on available for sale investments are recognised by transferring the difference between 

the acquisition cost and current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously 

recognised in profit or loss out of equity to profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss on 

equity instruments are not reversed through profit or loss. When a subsequent event causes the amount of 

impairment loss on available-for-sale debt security to decrease, the impairment loss is reversed through 

profit or loss. 
 

Fair value measurement principles 
 

For investments and derivatives quoted in an active market, fair value is determined by reference to 

quoted market prices. Bid prices are used for assets and offer prices are used for liabilities. The fair values 

of investments in mutual funds or similar investment vehicles are based on the last net asset value 

published by the fund manager. For other investments including treasury bills, a reasonable estimate of 

the fair value is determined by reference to the price of recent market transactions involving such 

investments, current market value of instruments which are substantially the same, or is based on the 

expected discounted cash flows. 
 

The estimated fair value of deposits with no stated maturity, which includes non-interest bearing deposits, 

is the amount payable on demand. 
 

The fair value of forward exchange contracts, interest rate swaps and option is calculated by reference to 

contracts with similar maturities. 
 

The fair value of unquoted investments is determined by reference to discounted cash flows, pricing 

models or over-the-counter quotes. 
 

Fair value information for investments measured at amortised cost have been disclosed in Note 3.5.  
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

(e) Financial instruments (continued) 

 

(i) Financial assets (continued) 

 

Offsetting financial instruments 

 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amounts reported in the consolidated statement of 

financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is 

an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the assets and settle the liability simultaneously. 

 
Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under IFRS, or for gains and losses 

arising from a group of similar transactions such as in the Group’s trading activity. 

 

Derecognition of financial assets 

 

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the asset’s cash flows expire 

or when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset are transferred to another entity. 

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and 

continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an 

associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and 

rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset 

and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received. 

 

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 

and the sum of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain/loss that had been 

recognised in OCI and accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or loss, with the exception of equity 

investment designated as measured at FVTOCI, where the cumulative gain/loss previously recognised in 

OCI is not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss but is transferred to retained earnings. 

 

(ii) Financial liabilities and equity instruments 

 

Classification as debt or equity 

 

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as 

equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial 

liability and an equity instrument. 

 

A financial liability is a contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset or to exchange 

financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are potentially 

unfavourable to the Group or a contract that will or may be settled in the Group’s own equity instruments 

and is a non-derivative contract for which the Group is or may be obliged to deliver a variable number of 

its own equity instruments, or a derivative contract over own equity that will or may be settled other than 

by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash (or another financial asset) for a fixed number of the Group’s 

own equity instruments. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

(e) Financial instruments (continued) 

 

(ii) Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued) 

 

Equity instruments 

 

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after 

deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group entity are recognised at the proceeds 

received, net of direct issue costs.  

 

Repurchase of the Group’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain 

or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own 

equity instruments. 

 
Financial liabilities 

 

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost or at FVTPL. 

 

Financial liabilities at FVTPL  

 

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial liability is either held for trading or it is 

designated as at FVTPL.  

 

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:  

 

 it has been incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in the near term; or  

 on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group 

manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or  

 it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument. 

 
A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon 

initial recognition if:  

 

 such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency 

that would otherwise arise; or  

 the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which 

is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s 

documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about the grouping is 

provided internally on that basis; or  

 it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IFRS 9 Financial 

Instruments permits the entire contract to be designated as at FVTPL. 

 

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement 

recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any interest paid 

on the financial liability and is included in the ‘other gains and losses’ line item. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

(e) Financial instruments (continued) 

 

(ii) Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued) 

 

Financial liabilities (continued) 

 

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost  

 

Financial liabilities that are not held-for-trading and are not designated as at FVTPL are subsequently 

measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  

 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of 

allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 

discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an 

integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the 

expected life of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the net carrying amount 

on initial recognition. 

 
Financial guarantee contracts  

 

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to 

reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due in 

accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.  

 

Financial guarantee contracts issued by a group entity are initially measured at their fair values and, if not 

designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at the higher of:  

 

 the amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with IFRS 9; and  

 the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in 

accordance with the revenue recognition policies.  

 

The Group has not designated any financial guarantee contracts as at FVTPL. 

 

Loan commitments 

 

Loan commitments are firm commitments to provide credit under pre-specified terms and conditions. 

 

Liabilities arising from the commitments to provide a loan at a below-market interest rate are initially 

measured at fair value and the initial value is amortised over the life of the commitment. The liability is 

subsequently carried at the higher of this amortised amount and the present value of any expected 

payment to settle the liability when a payment under the contract has become probable. 

 

Derecognition of financial liabilities  

 

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, 

cancelled or they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability 

derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

(f) Impairment 

 

(i) Financial assets 

 

The Group recognizes loss allowances for Expected Credit Losses (ECL) on the following financial 

instruments that are not measured at FVTPL:  

─ loans and advances to banks;  

─ loans and advances to customers;  

─ debt investment securities;  

─ lease receivables;  

─ loan commitments issued; and  

─ financial guarantee contracts issued 

─ Letter of Credits under trade finance transactions  

 

No impairment loss is recognised on equity investments. 

 

With the exception of Purchased or Originated Credit-Impaired (POCI) financial assets (which are 

considered separately), ECLs are required to be measured through a loss allowance at an amount equal 

to: 

  

─ 12-month ECL, i.e. ECL that result from those default events on the financial instrument that are 

possible within 12 months after the reporting date, (referred to as Stage 1); or  

─ full lifetime ECL, i.e. lifetime ECL that result from all possible default events over the life of the 

financial instrument, (referred to as Stage 2 and Stage 3).  

 

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of the present value of credit losses. These are measured as the 

present value of the difference between the cash flows due to the Group under the contract and the cash 

flows that the Group expects to receive arising from the weighting of multiple future economic scenarios, 

discounted at the asset’s EIR. 

 

─ For undrawn loan commitments, the ECL is the difference between the present value of the 

difference between the contractual cash flows that are due to the Group if the holder of the 

commitment draws down the loan and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive if the loan is 

drawn down.  

─ For financial guarantee contracts, the ECL is the difference between the expected payments to 

reimburse the holder of the guaranteed debt instrument less any amounts that the Group expects to 

receive from the holder, the debtor or any other party.  

 

The Group primarily measures ECL on an individual basis for majority of the portfolio with assessment 

on collective basis being conducted for a very small portfolios of loans that share similar economic risk 

characteristics.   
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(f) Impairment (continued) 

 

(i) Financial assets (continued) 

 

Credit-impaired financial assets 

 

A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the 

estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. Credit-impaired financial assets are 

referred to as Stage 3 assets. The Group has comprehensive policy for assessing evidence of increase in 

credit risk and credit-impairment including observable data about:  

 

- significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower; and / or 

- a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event beyond an established threshold;  

 

It may not be possible to identify a single discrete event—instead, the combined effect of several events 

may have caused financial assets to become credit-impaired. The Group assesses whether debt 

instruments that are financial assets measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are credit-impaired at each 

reporting date. To assess if any debt instruments is credit impaired, the Group considers factors such as 

credit ratings and the ability of the borrower to raise funding apart from quantitative criteria linked to the 

number of days overdue. 

 

A loan is considered credit-impaired when a concession is granted to the borrower due to a deterioration 

in the borrower’s financial condition, unless there is evidence that as a result of granting the concession 

the risk of not receiving the contractual cash flows has reduced significantly and there are no other 

indicators of impairment. For financial assets where concessions are contemplated but not granted the 

asset is deemed credit impaired when there is observable evidence of credit-impairment including meeting 

the definition of default. The definition of default (see below) includes unlikeliness to pay indicators and a 

backstop if amounts are overdue for 90 days or more unless the loan qualifies for a rebuttable presumption 

under the IFRS 9 criteria. 

 

Purchased or originated credit-impaired (POCI) financial assets 

 

POCI financial assets are treated differently because the asset is credit-impaired at initial recognition. For 

these assets, the Group recognises all changes in lifetime ECL since initial recognition as a loss allowance 

with any changes recognised in profit or loss. A favourable change for such assets creates an impairment 

gain. 

 

Definition of default  

 

Critical to the determination of ECL is the definition of default. The definition of default is used in 

measuring the amount of ECL and in the determination of whether the loss allowance is based on 12-

month or lifetime ECL, as default is a component of the probability of default (PD) which affects both the 

measurement of ECLs and the identification of a significant increase in credit risk 

 

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default:  

 the borrower is past due more than 90 days on any material credit obligation to the Group; or  

 the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full.  

  



UNION NATIONAL BANK - Public Joint Stock Company 

 

36 

 

 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2018 (continued) 

 

 

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

(f) Impairment (continued) 

 

(i) Financial assets (continued) 

 

Definition of default (continued) 

 

The definition of default is appropriately tailored to reflect different characteristics of different types of 

assets. Overdrafts are considered as being past due once the customer has breached an advised limit or has 

been advised of a limit smaller than the current amount outstanding. 

 

When assessing if the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligation, the Group takes into account both 

qualitative and quantitative indicators. The information assessed depends on the type of the asset, for 

example in corporate lending a qualitative indicator used is the breach of covenants, which is not relevant 

for retail lending. Quantitative indicators, such as overdue status and non-payment on another obligation 

of the same counterparty are key inputs in this analysis. The Group uses a variety of sources of 

information to assess default which are either developed internally or obtained from external sources. 

 

For ECL assessment the Group uses the default definition including application of rebuttable presumption 

under IFRS 9 as appropriate.   

 

Significant increase in credit risk 

 

The Group monitors all financial assets and financial guarantee contracts that are subject to the 

impairment requirements to assess whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial 

recognition. If there has been a significant increase in credit risk the Group will measure the loss 

allowance based on lifetime rather than 12-month ECL. 

 

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial 

recognition, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and 

supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without 

undue cost or effort, based on the Group’s historical experience and expert credit assessment including 

forward-looking information. 

 

For corporate lending, forward-looking information includes the future prospects of the industries in 

which the Group’s counterparties operate, financial analysis, as well as consideration of various internal 

and external sources of actual and forecast economic information. For retail, forward looking information 

includes quantitative factors centred on days overdue and any restructuring requested by the customer. 

The Group allocates its counterparties to a relevant internal credit risk grade depending on their credit 

quality. The quantitative information is a primary indicator of significant increase in credit risk and is 

based on the change in days past due, internal ratings or rating downgrades inter-alia including any 

significant changes in operating results or financial position of the borrower, guarantor and other 

operating or economic conditions adversely impact borrower’s ability to honour commitments. 
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(f) Impairment (continued) 

 

(i) Financial assets (continued) 

 

Significant increase in credit risk (continued) 

 

The Group also considers separately some qualitative factors to assess if credit risk has increased 

significantly. For corporate lending there is particular focus on assets that are included on a ‘watch list’ 

given an exposure is on a watch list once there is a concern that the creditworthiness of the specific 

counterparty has deteriorated. For retail lending the Group considers the expectation of forbearance and 

payment holidays and events such as unemployment, bankruptcy, divorce or death. 

  

As a back-stop when an asset becomes 30 days past due, the Group considers that a significant increase 

in credit risk has occurred and the asset is in stage 2 of the impairment model, i.e. the loss allowance is 

measured as the lifetime ECL. 

 

(ii) Property and equipment 
 

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property and 

equipment to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment 

loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine 

the extent of the impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of 

an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the 

asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are 

also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of 

cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.  

 

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value 

in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 

that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for 

which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.  
 

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying 

amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. 

An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a 

revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.  

 

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating 

unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying 

amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss 

been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is 

recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in 

which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase. 
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(g) Investment properties 

 

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation (including 

property under construction for such purposes). Investment property is initially measured at cost including 

transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value. Gains or 

losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment properties are included in profit or loss under 

‘Net gain on investment properties’ in the period they arise. 

 

Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment 

property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. 

Any gain or loss on the retirement or disposal of an investment property is recognised in profit or loss 

under ‘Net gain on investment properties’ in the year of retirement or disposal. 

 

(h) Property and equipment 

 

Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and provisions for impairment. 

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all properties and equipment, other than freehold land 

which is determined to have an indefinite life. Where the carrying value of an asset is greater than its 

estimated recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to its recoverable amount. Gains and losses 

on disposal are taken into account in determining net income. The estimated useful lives of the assets for 

the calculation of depreciation are as follows: 

 

Buildings  10 to 50 years 

Furniture, equipment and motor vehicles  4 to 10 years 

Computer hardware  4 to 5 years 

Office improvements  3 to 4 years 

Computer software  3 to 5 years 

 

Capital work-in progress is initially recorded at cost, and upon completion is transferred to the appropriate 

category of property and equipment and thereafter depreciated. 

 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at the reporting date. 

 

(i) Collateral pending sale 

 

Non-financial assets acquired in exchange for loans and advances in order to achieve an orderly 

realisation are recorded as assets held for sale and reported in ‘Other assets’. The asset acquired is 

recorded at the lower of its fair value less costs to sell and the carrying amount of the loan (net of 

impairment allowance) at the date of exchange. No depreciation is provided in respect of assets held for 

sale. Any subsequent write-down of the acquired asset to fair value less costs to sell is recorded as an 

impairment loss and included in profit or loss. Any subsequent increase in the fair value less costs to sell, 

to the extent this does not exceed the cumulative impairment loss, is recognised in profit or loss. 
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(j) Zakat 

 

Zakat is computed as per the Articles and Memorandum of Association of AWFC and is approved by 

AWFC’s Fatwa and Sharia’ Supervisory Board. Zakat is computed on shareholder's equity and certain 

other provisions which form part of Zakat pool. Upon approval by AWFC's Fatwa and Sharia’ 

Supervisory Board, AWFC notifies to the shareholders. Distribution of the Zakat is the responsibility of 

the shareholders’ of AWFC and UNB. 

 

(k) Staff termination and other benefits 

 

Pension obligations 

 

The Bank and its subsidiaries incorporated in the UAE are a participant in a pension scheme in respect of 

eligible UAE national employees in compliance with the Abu Dhabi Retirement Pension & Benefits 

Fund’s law. With respect to subsidiary and branch outside UAE, the Group provides for pension 

obligation in accordance with the applicable regulations in that jurisdiction. Obligations for contribution 

to pension scheme are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on an accrual basis under the defined 

contribution plan. 

 
Termination gratuity benefit scheme 

 

In compliance with UAE Federal Labour Law, the Bank and its subsidiaries incorporated in the UAE 

have a termination gratuity benefit scheme covering all of its expatriate salaried employees. The 

provision for gratuity is recognised as an expense in profit or loss under the defined benefit plan. 

  

The Group provides for optional gratuity benefit for all employees of UNB-E. Gratuity scheme in UNB-

E is in the nature of defined contribution plan whereby contributions made by both the UNB-E and staff 

are paid to an insurance company managing the gratuity fund with no additional liability on the part of 

the Group other than the contributions being made. The contribution made by the subsidiary is charged to 

profit or loss. 

 

Voluntary employee saving scheme 

 

The Bank and its subsidiaries incorporated in the UAE were participants to a voluntary employee savings 

scheme (VESS). Employees who are members of VESS contribute a specific percentage of their basic 

salary and the Bank and its subsidiaries incorporated in the UAE also contribute the matching amount. 

The contribution made by the Group to the VESS is charged to profit or loss on an accrual basis and 

VESS has been closed effective 1 January 2019. 
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(l) Revenue recognition 

 

Interest income and expense is recognised in profit or loss as it accrues, taking into account the effective 

yield of the asset / liability or an applicable floating rate. Interest income and expense includes the 

amortisation of any discount or premium or other differences between the initial carrying amount of an 

interest bearing instrument and its amount at maturity calculated on an effective interest rate basis. 

 

Fees and commission income and expenses that are integral to the effective interest rate on a financial 

asset or liability are included in the measurement of the effective interest rate. Other fees and commission 

income are recognised as the related services are performed. 

 

Net investment income include realised gains and losses arising from disposals, unrealised gains and 

losses due to changes in the fair value of investments measured at fair value through profit or loss and 

dividend income. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value of FVTOCI investments are 

recognised in the statement of other comprehensive income. Once the FVTOCI investments (except 

investment in equity instruments) are sold or realised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised 

in other comprehensive income is reclassified to the consolidated statement of profit or loss. For 

investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI the cumulative gain or loss recognised in OCI are 

transferred to retained earnings on disposal. Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss when the 

entity’s right to receive payment is established. 

 

Net gain from dealing in foreign currencies and derivatives include gains and losses arising from forex 

trading and unrealized gains and losses due to changes in fair value of derivatives.   

 

Rental income arising on investment properties is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease 

terms on ongoing leases and is recorded in the income statement in ‘Other operating income’. 

 

Fees in respect of guarantees are amortised over the period of the guarantee to which they relate. 

 
(m) Provisions 

 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a 

past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate 

can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

 

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the 

present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties 

surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the 

present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the 

time value of money is material). 

 
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered 

from a third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be 

received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably. 



UNION NATIONAL BANK - Public Joint Stock Company 

 

41 

 

 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2018 (continued) 
 

 

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

(n) Taxation 

 

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax and is provided in accordance with fiscal 

regulations of the respective country in which the group entity operates. 

 

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year using tax rate enacted or 

substantially enacted at the reporting date and any adjustments to tax payable in respect of the previous 

years. 

 

Income tax is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in 

equity, in which case it is recognised in equity. 

 

Deferred tax assets/liabilities are calculated using balance sheet method, providing for temporary 

differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the 

amounts used for taxation purposes. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected 

manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted 

or substantially enacted at the reporting date. 

 

The carrying amount of deferred tax asset is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent 

that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the 

deferred tax asset to be utilised. 

 

(o) Cash and cash equivalents 

 

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on 

hand and balances with central banks, treasury bills, due from banks and due to banks maturing within 

three months from the date of origination. 

 

(p) Leasing 

 

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks 

and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.  

 

The Group as lessor 

 

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised as receivables at the amount of the 

Group’s net investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to 

reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the 

leases.  

 

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant 

lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the 

carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term 
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(p) Leasing (continued) 

 

The Group as lessee 

 

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value at the 

inception of the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The 

corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the consolidated statement of financial position as a 

finance lease obligation.  

 

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so as to 

achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses are 

recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in 

which case they are capitalised in accordance with the Group’s general policy on borrowing costs (see 

note q below). Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.  

 
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, 

except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic 

benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are 

recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.  

 

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are 

recognised as a liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental 

expense on a straight-line basis, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time 

pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. 

 
(q) Foreign currencies 

 

At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at 

the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency 

are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value is measured. Non-monetary items 

that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated. 
 

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise 

except for: 

 

 exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for future 

productive use, which are included in the cost of those assets when they are regarded as an adjustment 

to interest costs on those foreign currency borrowings; 

 exchange differences on transactions entered into in order to hedge certain foreign currency risks; and 

 exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which 

settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the 

foreign operation), which are recognised initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified 

from equity to profit or loss on repayment of the monetary items.  
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(q) Foreign currencies (continued) 

 

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's 

foreign operations are translated into AED using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting 

period. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period. Exchange 

differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity 

(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate). On the disposal of a foreign operation, all of the 

exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the 

Group is reclassified to profit or loss. In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does 

not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated 

exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are recognised in profit or loss. For 

all other partial disposals, the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified 

to profit or loss.  

 

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets and liabilities acquired arising on the 

acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and 

translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange differences 

arising are recognised in other comprehensive income. 

 

(r) Fiduciary assets 
 

Assets held in trust or in a fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets of the Group and accordingly are 

not included in these consolidated financial statements. 
 

(s) Operating segment reporting 
 

An operating segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged either in providing 

products or services (business segment) which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from those 

of other segments and whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the Group's Chief Operating 

decision maker to make decisions about allocation of resources and assess its performance. 

 

(t) Repurchase and resale agreements 

 

Assets sold with a simultaneous commitment to repurchase at a specified future date (repos) are 

recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position and are measured in accordance with 

accounting policies for such securities. The counterparty liability for amounts received under these 

agreements is classified as a liability. Assets purchased with a corresponding commitment to resell at a 

specified future date (reverse repos) are not recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position 

and the amounts paid under these agreements are classified as an asset. 

 

The difference between the related sale and repurchase prices is treated as interest expense or interest 

income arising from these transactions, respectively and is accrued over the period of the agreement 

using the effective interest method. 
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(u) Investment in associates 

 

An associate is an entity over which the Bank has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary 

nor an interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and 

operating policy decisions of the investee, generally accompanying a shareholding of between 20% to 

50% of the voting rights, but is not control or joint control over those policies. 

 

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these financial statements using the 

equity method of accounting, except when the investment is classified as held for sale, in which case it is 

accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. 

Under the equity method, investments in associates are carried in the consolidated statement of financial 

position at cost as adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the Bank’s share of the net assets of the 

associate, less any impairment in the value of individual investments and share of changes in the 

statement of changes in equity. Losses of an associate in excess of the Bank’s interest in that associate 

(which includes any long term interests that, in substance, form part of the Bank’s net investment in the 

associate) are recognised only to the extent that the Bank has incurred legal or constructive obligations or 

made payments on behalf of the associate.  

 

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the 

investee becomes an associate. Any excess of the Bank’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable 

assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition, is recognised immediately in profit 

or loss. Where a Bank’s subsidiary or other associate transacts with an associate of the Bank, profits and 

losses are eliminated to the extent of the Bank’s interest in the relevant associate. 

 

The requirements of IAS 36 are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment 

loss with respect to the Group’s investment in an associate. When necessary, the entire carrying amount 

of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 Impairment of 

Assets as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less 

costs to sell) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount 

of the investment. Any reversal of this impairment loss is recognised in accordance with IAS 36 to the 

extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.  

 

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the date when the investment ceases to be an 

associate, or when the investment is classified as held for sale. When the Group retains an interest in the 

former associate and the retained interest is a financial asset, the Group measures the retained interest at 

fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition in accordance 

with IFRS 9. The difference between the carrying amount of the associate at the date the equity method 

was discontinued, and the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing of a part 

interest in the associate is included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate. In 

addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in 

relation to that associate on the same basis as would be required if that associate had directly disposed of 

the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive 

income by that associate would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or 

liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification 

adjustment) when the equity method is discontinued.  
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(u) Investment in associates (continued) 

 

The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment in an associate becomes an 

investment in a joint venture. There is no remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in ownership 

interests. When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate but the Group continues to use 

the equity method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had 

previously been recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership 

interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or 

liabilities. 

 

(v)        Derivative financial instruments 

 

A derivative financial instrument is a financial contract between two parties where payments are 

dependent upon movements in the price of one or more underlying financial instrument, reference rate or 

index. 

 

The Group enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to foreign 

exchange rate and interest rate risks, including interest rate swaps, foreign exchange forward contracts, 

commodity swaps and cross currency swaps.  

  

Derivative financial instruments are initially measured at fair value at trade date, and are subsequently re- 

measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. All derivatives are carried at their fair values as 

assets where the fair values are positive and as liabilities where the fair values are negative. Derivative 

assets and liabilities arising from different transactions are offset only if the transactions are with the same 

counterparty, a legal right of offset exists and the parties intend to settle the cash flows on a net basis. 

 
Derivative fair values are determined from quoted prices in active markets where available. Where there 

is no active market for an instrument, fair value is derived from prices for the derivative’s components 

using appropriate pricing or valuation models. 

 

The method of recognising fair value gains and losses depends on whether derivatives are held for trading 

or are designated as hedging instruments, and if the latter, the nature of the risks being hedged. All gains 

and losses from changes in the fair value of derivatives held for trading are recognised in the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss under ‘Net gain from dealing in foreign currencies and derivatives’. 

 

Embedded derivatives 

 

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts that are not financial assets within the scope of 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (e.g. financial liabilities) are treated as separate derivatives when their risks 

and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not 

measured at FVTPL. 
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(w) Hedge accounting 

 

Derivatives designated as hedges are classified as either: (i) fair value hedges which hedge the exposure to 

changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability; (ii) cash flow hedges which hedge exposure to 

variability in cash flows that is either attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or 

liability or a highly probable forecast transaction; or (iii) a hedge of net investment which are accounted 

similarly to a cash flow hedge. Hedge accounting is applied to derivatives designated as hedging 

instruments in a fair value or cash flow, provided the criteria are met. 

 

At the inception of a hedging relationship, to qualify for hedge accounting, the Group documents the 

relationship between the hedging instruments and the hedged items as well as its risk management 

objective and its strategy for undertaking the hedge. The Group also requires a documented assessment, 

both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether or not the hedging instruments, primarily 

derivatives, that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting the changes attributable 

to the hedged risks in the fair values or cash flows of the hedged items. Interest income and expenses on 

designated qualifying hedge swaps is included in ‘Net interest income’. 

 

Fair value hedges 

 

The fair value change on qualifying hedging instruments is recognised in profit or loss except when the 

hedging instrument hedges an equity instrument designated at FVTOCI in which case it is recognised in 

OCI. The Group has not designated fair value hedge relationships where the hedging instrument hedges an 

equity instrument designated at FVTOCI. 

 

The carrying amount of a hedged item not already measured at fair value is adjusted for the fair value 

change attributable to the hedged risk with a corresponding entry in profit or loss. For debt instruments 

measured at FVTOCI, the carrying amount is not adjusted as it is already at fair value, but the part of the 

fair value gain or loss on the hedged item associated with the hedged risk is recognised in profit or loss 

instead of OCI. When the hedged item is an equity instrument designated at FVTOCI, the hedging 

gain/loss remains in OCI to match that of the hedging instrument. 

 

The Group discontinues hedge accounting only when the hedging relationship (or a part thereof) ceases to 

meet the qualifying criteria (after rebalancing, if applicable). This includes instances when the hedging 

instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised. The discontinuation is accounted for prospectively. 

The fair value adjustment to the carrying amount of hedged items for which the EIR method is used (i.e. 

debt instruments measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI) arising from the hedged risk is amortised to 

profit or loss commencing no later than the date when hedge accounting is discontinued. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

(w) Hedge accounting (continued) 
 

Cash flow hedges 
 

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives and other qualifying hedging instruments 

that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised in the cash flow hedging reserve, a 

separate component of OCI, limited to the cumulative change in fair value of the hedged item from 

inception of the hedge less any amounts recycled to profit or loss. 
 

Amounts previously recognised in OCI and accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss in the 

periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss, in the same line as the recognised hedged item. If the 

Group no longer expects the transaction to occur that amount is immediately reclassified to profit or loss. 
 

The Group discontinues hedge accounting only when the hedging relationship (or a part thereof) ceases to 

meet the qualifying criteria (after rebalancing, if applicable). This includes instances when the hedging 

instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or where the occurrence of the designated hedged 

forecast transaction is no longer considered to be highly probable. The discontinuation is accounted for 

prospectively. Any gain/loss recognised in OCI and accumulated in equity at that time remains in equity 

and is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in profit or loss. When a forecast 

transaction is no longer expected to occur, the gain/loss accumulated in equity is reclassified and 

recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

 

Hedge effectiveness testing 
 

To qualify for hedge accounting, the Bank requires that at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing 

basis:  
 

 the hedging relationship consists only of eligible hedging instruments and eligible hedged items; 

 at inception of the hedging relationship there is formal designation and documentation of the hedging 

relationship and the entity’s risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge; 

 the hedging relationship meets all of the hedge effectiveness requirements, i.e.: 

- there is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument; 

- the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from that economic 

relationship; and 

- the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of the 

hedged item that the Group actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that the 

Group actually uses to hedge that quantity of hedged item. 

 

Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting 

 

All gains and losses from changes in the fair values of derivatives that do not qualify for hedge 

accounting are recognised immediately in consolidated statement of profit or loss under ‘Net gain from 

dealing in foreign currencies and derivatives’. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

(x) Islamic financing and investment products – definitions and revenue recognition 
 

Mudaraba 

 

Mudaraba is a contract between two parties whereby one party is a fund provider (Rab Al Mal) who 

would provide a certain amount of funds (Mudaraba Capital), to the other party (Mudarib). Mudarib 

would then invest the Mudaraba Capital in a specific enterprise or activity deploying its experience and 

expertise for a specific pre-agreed share in the resultant profit. The Rab Al Mal is not involved in the 

management of the Mudaraba activity. The Mudarib would bear the loss in case of its default, negligence 

or violation of any of the terms and conditions of the Mudaraba contract; otherwise the loss would be 

borne by the Rab Al Mal. Under the Mudaraba contract, the Company may act either as Mudarib or as 

Rab Al Mal, as the case may be. 

  

Mudaraba investments are stated at fair value of the Mudaraba assets net of provision for impairment, if 

any, and Mudaraba capital amounts settled.  

 

Estimated profit on Mudaraba is amortised on a time apportioned basis over the period, adjusted by actual 

profit when declared by the Mudarib, whereas the losses are charged to profit or loss on their declaration 

by the Mudarib. 

 

Wakala investment 

 

Wakala investment is an agreement whereby the Company (the Muwakkil) provides certain amount of 

funds (the Wakala Capital) to an agent (the Wakeel) to invest it in a Sharia compliant manner and in 

accordance with the feasibility study/investment plan submitted to the Muwakkil by the Wakeel, who is 

entitled to a fixed fee (the Wakala Fee) as a lump sum amount or a percentage of the Wakala Capital. The 

Wakeel may be granted any excess over and above a certain pre-agreed rate of return as a performance 

incentive. The Muwakkil would bear the loss unless caused by the default, negligence or violation of any 

of the terms and conditions of the Wakala by the Wakeel. Wakala investments are stated at fair value of 

the Wakala assets net of provision for impairment, if any, and Wakala capital amounts settled.  

 

Estimated income from Wakala investment is amortised on a time apportioned basis over the period, 

adjusted by actual income when declared by the Wakeel, whereas the losses are charged to profit or loss 

on their declaration by the Wakeel. 

 

Share Murabaha 

 

A share financing Murabaha contract whereby the Company (the Seller) sells shares to the customer (the 

Purchaser), on a deferred payment basis, after purchasing the shares, which the Seller had purchased and 

acquired, based on a promise received from the Purchaser to buy the shares once purchased according to 

specific Murabaha terms and conditions. The Murabaha sale price comprises the cost of the shares and an 

agreed profit amount. The Purchaser usually pays on an instalment basis over the period of the Murabaha 

contract. 

 

The Murabaha profit is recognised on a time proportion basis over the period of the Murabaha contract. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

(x) Islamic financing and investment products – definitions and revenue recognition 

(continued) 
 

Purchase by way of Murabaha 

 

A Murabaha Contract whereby the institutional client (the Seller) sells an asset to the Company (the 

Purchaser), on a deferred payment basis, after purchasing the asset, which the Seller has purchased and 

acquired, based on a promise received from the Company to buy the asset once purchased according to 

specific Murabaha terms and conditions. The Murabaha purchase price, payable by the Purchaser, 

comprises the cost of the asset and an agreed profit amount. The Purchaser usually pays the Murabaha 

Sale price on an instalment basis over the period of the Murabaha contract. 

 

Where the expense is quantifiable, expenses are recognised on a time apportioned-basis over the period 

of the Murabaha contract. 

 

Qard Hasan 
 

A non-profit bearing loan enables the customer to use the borrowed amounts for a specific period of 

time, at the end of which the same borrowed amounts would be repaid free of any profit. 
 

Istisna’a 
 

Istisna’a is a sale contract between two parties whereby one party (sani’ or seller) undertakes to 

construct, for the other party (mustasni’ or buyer), a specific asset or property according to certain pre-

agreed specifications in consideration of a pre-determined price to be delivered during a pre-agreed 

period of time. The work undertaken is not restricted to be accomplished by the Sani’ alone and the 

whole or part of the construction can be undertaken by third parties under the control and responsibility 

of the Sani’. Under an Istisna’a contract the Company could be the Sani’ or the Mustasni’. 
 

Wakala deposits 
 

An agreement whereby the customer (the Muwakkil) provides certain amounts of funds (the Wakala 

Capital) to the Company (the Wakeel) to invest it in the general Shari’a compliant  activity of the 

Company. The Wakeel is entitled to a fixed fee (the Wakala Fee) as a lump sum amount or a percentage 

of the Wakala Capital. The Wakeel may be granted any excess over and above a certain pre-agreed rate 

of return as a performance incentive. The Muwakkil would bear the loss unless caused by the default, 

negligence or violation of any of the terms and conditions of the Wakala by the Wakeel. 
 

Estimated profit payable on Wakala deposits is amortised/distributed on a time apportioned basis over the 

period, adjusted by actual profit realised. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(x) Islamic financing and investment products – definitions and revenue recognition 

(continued) 
 

Ijara Muntahiya Bil Tamleek Finance 
 

Ijara (Ijara Muntahiya Bil Tamleek) is an agreement whereby the Company (as lessor) leases an asset to 

the customer (as Lessee) (after purchasing/acquiring the specified asset, either from a third party seller or 

from the customer itself, according to the customer’s request and promise to lease), against certain rental 

payments for specific lease term/periods, payable on fixed or variable rental basis. Leased assets are 

usually residential properties, commercial real estate or aircrafts. 
 

The Ijara agreement specifies the leased asset, duration of the lease term, as well as, the basis for rental 

calculation, the timing of rental payment and responsibilities of both parties during the lease term. The 

customer (lessee) provides the Company (lessor) with an undertaking to renew the lease periods and pay 

the relevant rental payment amounts as per the agreed schedule and applicable formula throughout the 

lease term. 
 

The Company (lessor) retains the ownership of the assets throughout the lease term. At the end of the 

lease term, upon fulfilment of all the obligations by the customer (lessee) under the Ijara agreement, the 

Company (lessor) will sell the leased asset to the customer (lessee) at nominal value based on sale 

undertaking given by the Company (lessor). 
 

Income is recognised on an accrual basis over the lease term based on the fixed rental amount 

outstanding. 

 
Forward Ijara 

 

Forward Ijara (Ijara Mausoofa Fiz Zimma) is an agreement whereby the Company (as lessor) agrees to 

provide, on a specified future date, a certain described asset on lease to the customer (lessee) upon its 

completion and delivery by the developer/customer, from whom the Company has purchased the same, 

by way of Istisna. The lease rental under Forward Ijara commences only upon the customer (lessee) 

having received possession of the leased asset from the Company (lessor). The arrangement could end by 

transferring the ownership of the asset to the customer (lessee), as in the Ijara Muntahiya Bil Tamleek 

product. 

 

During the construction period, the Company pays to the developer/contractor one payment or multiple 

payments, Forward Ijara profit during the construction period will be accounted for on a time-

apportioned basis over the construction period on account of rentals. These profit amounts are received 

either during the construction period as advance rental payment or with the second rental payment after 

the commencement of the lease. Upon completion of the asset and commencement of the lease, income is 

recognised on a time-apportioned basis over the remaining period of the agreement based on the fixed 

rental amount outstanding as in the Ijara Muntahiya Bil Tamleek product. 

 
Islamic Home Finance 

 

The Company will buy the property from the developer and then lease it to the customer. The product can 

be an Ijara Muntahiya Bil Tamleek if the property is ready to lease or Forward Ijara if the property is 

under construction. Revenue is recognized as per revenue recognition criteria for these products. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

(x) Islamic financing and investment products – definitions and revenue recognition 

(continued) 

 

Murabaha 

 

Murabaha is a contract whereby the Company (the Seller) sells an asset to the customer (the Purchaser), 

on a deferred payment basis, after purchasing the asset, which the Seller had purchased based on a 

promise received from the customer to buy the asset once purchased according to specific Murabaha 

terms and conditions. The Murabaha sale price comprises the cost of the asset and an agreed profit 

margin. The sale price (cost plus the profit amount) is paid by the Purchaser to the Seller on instalment 

basis over the agreed finance tenure. The Murabaha sale price, receivable from the Purchaser, comprises 

cost of the asset sold and an agreed profit amount. The Purchaser usually pays the Murabaha Sale Price 

on an instalment basis over the period of the Murabaha contract. 

 

Murabaha profit is recognised on a time-apportioned basis over the period of the contract. 

 

Musharaka Investment 

 

Musharaka is used to provide venture capital or project finance. The Company and customer contribute 

towards the capital of the Musharaka. Usually a special purpose company or a partnership is established 

as a vehicle to undertake the Musharaka. Profits are shared according to a pre-agreed profit distribution 

ratio but losses are borne according to the capital contributions. Capital contributions may be in cash or 

in kind, as valued at the time of entering into the Musharaka. 

 

Estimated profit is amortised on a time apportioned basis over the period, adjusted by actual profit when 

received, whereas the losses are charged to profit or loss on their declaration. 

 

Depositors’ share of profit 

 

Depositors’ share of profits is the amount accrued as an expense on the funds accepted from banks and 

customers in the form of Wakala and Mudaraba deposits and recognised as expenses in the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss. The amounts are calculated in accordance with agreed terms and conditions of 

the wakala deposits and Sharia’a principles. 

 

(y) IFRS 9 transition impact disclosure 

 

The Group has adopted IFRS 9, as issued by the IASB in July 2014 with a date of transition of 1 January 

2018, which resulted in changes in accounting policies and adjustments to the amounts previously 

recognised in the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended 31 December 2017. The 

adoption of IFRS 9 has resulted in changes in the accounting policies for recognition, classification and 

measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities and impairment of financial assets. IFRS 9 also 

significantly amends other standards dealing with financial instruments such as IFRS 7 ‘Financial 

Instruments: Disclosures’. 
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

(y) IFRS 9 transition impact disclosure (continued) 

 

As permitted by the transitional provisions of IFRS 9, the Group elected not to restate comparative 

figures. Any adjustments to the carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities at the date of transition 

were recognised in the opening retained earnings of the current year.  

 

The following assessments have been made on the basis of the facts and circumstances that existed at the 

date of initial application: 

 

- The determination of the business model within which a financial asset is held.  

- The designation of certain investments in equity instruments not held for trading as at FVTOCI. 

- If a debt security had low credit risk at the date of initial application of IFRS 9, then the Group has 

assumed that credit risk on the asset had not increased significantly since initial recognition. 
 

IFRS 9 largely retains the existing requirements in IAS 39 for the classification of financial liabilities. 

However, although under IAS 39 all fair value changes of liabilities designated under the fair value 

option were recognised in the consolidated income statement, under IFRS 9 fair value changes are 

generally presented as follows: 

 

- The amount of change in the fair value that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of the liability 

is presented in OCI; and 

- The remaining amount of change in the fair value is presented in the consolidated income statement. 

 

Impairment of financial assets 

 

IFRS 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in IAS 39 with an ‘expected credit loss’ model. The new 

impairment model also applies to certain loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts but not to 

equity investments. Under IFRS 9, credit losses are recognized earlier than under IAS 39. 

 

The Group applies three-stage approach to measuring expected credit losses (ECL) on financial assets 

carried at amortised cost and debt instruments classified as FVTOCI. Assets migrate through three stages 

based on the change in credit quality since initial recognition. 

 

Set out below are the IFRS 9 transition impact disclosures for the Group. Further details of the specific 

IFRS 9 accounting policies applied in the current period are described in more detail in note 2. 

 

Summary of impact upon adoption of IFRS 9 – Classification and measurement 

 

The following table summarizes the classification and measurement impact as at 1 January 2018. 

Reclassifications represent movements of the carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities which 

have changed their classification. Remeasurement represents changes in the carrying amount of the 

financial assets and liabilities due to changes in their measurement. 
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(y) IFRS 9 transition impact disclosure (continued) 

 

Summary of impact upon adoption of IFRS 9 – Classification and measurement (continued) 

 
 

 

IAS 39 

IAS 39  

Measurement 

category 

IAS 39 

carrying 

amount 

 

 

Reclassifications 

 

 

Remeasurement 

 

IFRS 9 carrying 

amount 

IFRS 9 

measurement 

category 

 

 

IFRS 9 

Financial assets  AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000   
        
Cash and balances with  

   central banks 

Amortised cost 9,196,456 - (723) 9,195,733 Amortised cost Cash and balances with central banks 

        
Due from banks Amortised cost 1,745,646 - (1,938) 1,743,708 Amortised cost Due from banks 
        
Investments        

Trading investments FVTPL 1,526 (1,526) - -   
        
Designated at fair value  

   through profit or loss 

FVTPL 52,128 1,526 - 53,654 FVTPL Fair value through profit or loss 

        
Available for sale FVTOCI 17,696,435 - - 17,696,435 FVTOCI Fair value through other comprehensive income 
        
Held to maturity Amortised cost 3,316,520 - (9,571) 3,306,949 Amortised cost Investments measured at amortised cost 
        
Loans and advances Amortised cost 71,137,305 - (815,564) 70,321,741 Amortised cost Loans and advances measured at amortised cost  
        
Other assets Amortised cost 1,747,719 - (14,409) 1,733,310 Amortised cost Other assets 
        
Derivatives FVTPL 203,820 - - 203,820 FVTPL Derivatives 
        
Letter of credit, financial  

   guarantees and undrawn  

   loan commitments 

Amortised cost 45,657,154 - (54,199) 45,602,955 Amortised cost Letter of credit, financial guarantees and 

undrawn loan commitments 

  __________ __________ __________ __________   

        

Total  150,754,709 - (896,404) 149,858,305   
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(y) IFRS 9 transition impact disclosure (continued) 

 

Summary of impact upon adoption of IFRS 9 – Impairment 

 

The following table is a comparison of impairment allowances determined in accordance with IAS 39 and 

IAS 37 to the corresponding impairment allowance determined in accordance with IFRS 9 as at 1 January 

2018. 

 
 Impairment 

allowance under  

IAS 39 as at  

31 December 2017 

 

 

Transition 

Adjustments 

Impairment 

allowance under 

IFRS 9 as at  

1 January 2018 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 
    

Cash and balances with central banks - 723 723 

Due from Banks 104 1,938 2,042 

Loans and advances measured at amortised cost 3,110,654 815,564 3,926,218 

Investment securities at amortised cost - 9,571 9,571 

Other assets - 14,409 14,409 

Letter of credit, financial guarantees and  

   undrawn loan commitments 

 

10,818 

 

54,199 
 

65,017 

 __________ __________ __________ 

    

Total allowance for credit losses 3,121,576 896,404 4,017,980 

                                                                

    

 

3 Financial risk management 

 

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and those activities involve the 

identification, evaluation, acceptance and management of risks or combination of risks. Taking risk is 

core to the financial business, and the operational risks are an inevitable consequence of being in 

business. The Group’s aim is therefore to achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return and 

minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. 

 

The Group’s risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse these risks, to set appropriate 

risk limits and controls, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means of reliable and up to 

date information systems. The Group regularly reviews its risk management policies and systems to 

reflect changes in markets, products and emerging best practice. The key risks are credit, liquidity, 

market and operational risks. Market risk includes currency, interest rate and other price risk. 
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3 Financial risk management (continued) 

 

The Group has established a risk management structure to oversee and manage these risks through 

various management committees which are responsible for making decisions and controlling the risk in 

relevant areas as follow: 

 

Assets and Liability Committee (ALCO) is responsible for monitoring, managing and controlling 

liquidity, interest rate and foreign exchange risks arising from the Bank’s lending, funding and 

investment activities. 

 

Investment Committee (ICO) is responsible for developing the trading and investment strategy and 

approves specific trading and investment proposal. ICO reviews and updates the trading and investment 

strategy on a periodic basis. 

 

Head Office Credit Committee (HOCC) is responsible for taking credit decision at the higher level of the 

lending portfolio, recommending credit policy and the future direction of credit activities in the Bank. 

 

Remedial Asset Committee (RAC) is responsible for monitoring the non-performing loans portfolio of 

the Bank, develops specific and collective impairment policies and proposals to initiate legal action 

against borrowers of the Bank. 

 

Risk Management Committee (RMC) functions to ensure that appropriate and prudent policies, 

procedures and practices are implemented to manage key risks. As such, RMC reviews the enterprise-

wide mechanisms for the measurement, management, reporting and mitigation of all types of risks facing 

the Bank, and makes appropriate recommendations thereon. In addition, RMC is the primary body for 

monitoring and managing operational risk. The Bank has a separate Enterprise Risk function which 

independently reviews all risk measurement and monitoring policies. 

 

In addition to the management committees as mentioned above, the Bank has the following board level 

committees which are responsible for making decisions and controlling the risk in relevant areas, as 

follows: 

 

The Audit Committee (AC), which is a Board committee assisted by internal audit function, is charged 

with directly supporting the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities in safeguarding shareholders’ funds. 

AC provides assurances to the Board that the policies and procedures and the objectives set by the Board, 

are being complied with. AC comprises three Board members and the Head of Audit, as its secretary, and 

meets at least four times a year. 

 

Board Remedial Asset Committee (BRAC) monitors recovery efforts of the Bank and approves 

provisioning policies, specific provisions for individual credit facilities and proprietary investments and 

monitors the activities of the RAC. 

 

Board Risk Committee (BRC) assists the Board in establishing risk management policies and risk 

appetite, and monitoring the risk positioning in the context of the risk appetite criterion, reviewing and 

approving the stress testing methodologies and results. 

 

Board Credit Committee (BCC) supports the Board in credit approving decisions viz. directly involved in 

the approving the lending decisions within their delegated authority as well as reviewing and 

recommending other credit proposals that exceeds the delegated authority to the Board. 
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3 Financial risk management (continued) 

 

In broad terms, the structure enables the establishment of risk management policies, monitoring and 

review of compliance with those policies. Significant risk issues are escalated to the appropriate 

committee for information and/or action. In addition, various functions within the Bank are responsible 

for measuring, managing or monitoring risk in accordance with the decisions of the management and / or 

board committees. 

 

The nature of risks and the approach to managing risks differs fundamentally between the trading and 

non-trading portfolios. Section (b) below contains risk management information related to the trading 

activities. 

 

(a) Derivative financial instruments 

 

The Group enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments for trading and risk management 

purposes. Derivative financial instruments used by the Group include options, swaps and forward foreign 

exchange contracts as mentioned in Note 31 to these consolidated financial statements. 

 

The Group is subject to credit risk arising from the respective counterparties’ failure to perform. Market 

risk arises from the possibility of unfavourable movements in interest rates, foreign currency exchange 

rates and equity prices relative to the contractual rates. 

 

(b) Trading activities 

 

The amount of credit exposure in this regard is represented by the carrying amounts of the assets on the 

consolidated statement of financial position. In addition, the Group is exposed to credit risk through 

commitments to extend credit, letters of credit and letters of guarantee issued (refer Note 28). The Group 

is also exposed to credit risk on other financial assets, including derivative instruments. The current 

credit exposure in respect of these instruments is equal to the carrying amount of these assets in the 

consolidated statement of financial position. 

 

The Group maintains trading positions in a variety of financial instruments and manages the trading 

activities by type of risk involved and on the basis of the categories of trading instruments held. 

 

Credit Risk 

 

The Group’s credit exposure at the reporting date arising from financial instruments held for trading 

purposes is represented by the fair value of instruments with a positive fair value at that date, as recorded 

on the consolidated statement of financial position. The risk that counterparties to trading instruments 

might default on their obligation is monitored on an ongoing basis. 

 

Market Risk 

 

All trading and non-trading instruments are subject to market risk, the risk that future changes in market 

conditions may make an instrument less valuable. The instruments are recognised at fair value and all 

changes in market conditions directly affect net trading income. Exposure to market risk is managed in 

accordance with risk limits set by management committees in response to changing market conditions. 
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3 Financial risk management (continued) 

 

3.1 Credit risk 
 

Credit risk is the risk that financial loss arises from the failure of a customer or counterparty to a financial 

instrument, to meet its obligations under a contract. It arises principally from lending, trade finance and 

non-trading investment activities. For risk management purposes, credit risk arising on trading 

investments is reported as a component of market risk exposure. The Group has policies and procedures 

dedicated to controlling and monitoring risk from all such activities. 

 

3.1.1 Credit risk management 

 

Credit risk is actively managed and monitored in accordance with defined credit policies and procedures. 

The creditworthiness of each counter party is evaluated and appropriate credit limits are established. To 

reduce individual counterparty credit risk, the Group ensures that, whenever necessary, all loans are 

secured by acceptable form of collateral. Credit limits are also established for countries, sectors and 

products to ensure the broad diversification of credit risk and to avoid undue concentration. Established 

limits and actual levels of exposure are regularly reviewed and updated by management. In addition, the 

Group’s credit review procedures are designed to identify, at an early stage, exposures that require more 

detailed monitoring and review. 

 

The Bank’s credit policies and procedures are approved by HOCC which is set out in the Credit Manual. 

The powers of HOCC are delegated through an authority from the Board of Directors. The HOCC is also 

charged with the responsibility for monitoring the overall credit quality of the Bank’s advances portfolio, 

setting the level of exposure to individual industry and economic sectors as well as inter-bank and 

country limits. Diversification is encouraged in order to alleviate concentration risks. 

 

All credit lines are approved at appropriate levels and, wherever possible, these are secured by acceptable 

forms of collateral in order to mitigate credit risk. Adequate segregation exists between credit 

origination, approval, administration/monitoring functions. 

 

In addition to above, the Credit Review function within Internal Audit function is charged with the 

responsibility of conducting periodic reviews of individual accounts to ensure that all necessary internal 

and regulatory guidelines are being adhered to apart from performing an independent credit quality 

evaluation. 

 

Credit quality per class of financial assets 

 

All corporate and commercial facilities are assigned risk ratings on initial recognition and thereafter 

reassessed on an annual basis or an earlier date in the event of any adverse information. In 2018, the 

Group implemented a new rating system thereby transitioning from the old 13 grade rating system to the 

new 22 grade rating system. The new rating system assigns individual probability of defaults (PD) to 

customers using a judicious blend of quantitative and qualitative customer data and is more granular with 

19 performing and 3 non-performing grades.  
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3 Financial risk management (continued) 

 

3.1 Credit risk (continued) 

 

3.1.1 Credit risk management (continued) 

 

Past due but not impaired financial assets 

 

These are the financial assets, where contractual interest or principal payments are past due. The Group 

closely monitors these assets individually and determines that impairment on that exposure is not 

required considering the borrower’s ability to pay, level of collaterals available and/or the stage of 

collection of the amounts owed to the Group.  

 

Under IFRS 9, the credit quality of gross exposure for loans and advances measured at amortised cost has 

been disclosed by stages under note 14. 

  

The gross carrying amount of financial assets less impairment losses as per IAS 39 is as follows: 
 

 Neither past due nor impaired     

 Normal Watch Past due but  Impairment  

 grade list not impaired Impaired allowance Total 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

31 December 2017       

       

Cash and balances  

  with central banks 

 

9,196,456 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

9,196,456 

Due from banks 1,745,646 - - 104 (104) 1,745,646 

Loans and advances 61,940,761 2,580,826 6,524,237 3,202,135 (3,110,654) 71,137,305 

Investments 

   (except equity) 20,953,568 - - - - 20,953,568 

Others 1,716,142 - - - - 1,716,142 

 ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- ------------------------- 

 95,552,573 2,580,826 6,524,237 3,202,239 (3,110,758) 104,749,117 

                                                                                                                                           

 
Ageing analysis of past due but not impaired loans as per IAS 39 is as follows: 

 

  2017 

  AED’000 
   
0 to 30 days  5,817,676 

31 to 90 days  327,626 

Over 90 days  378,935 

  ------------------ 

  6,524,237 
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3 Financial risk management (continued) 

 

3.1 Credit risk (continued) 
 

3.1.1 Credit risk management (continued) 

 

Write off 

 

Impaired corporate accounts and related impairment allowances are written off on a case by case basis 

either partially or fully when there is no realistic prospect of recovery of these amounts i.e. when all legal 

avenues for recovery have been exhausted and when the proceeds from the realisation of security have 

been received. Retail loans are written-off after 181 days overdue. 

 

Approving settlement arrangements including write offs are carried out by either RAC or BRAC as per 

delegated authorities. 

 

Any recovery at a future date from the written-off loans is directly recognised in profit or loss as an 

adjustment to impairment loss on financial assets. 
 

Collateral and other credit enhancements obtained 

 

The Group holds collateral against loans and advances in the form of mortgage over property, securities, 

cash margins and lien over fixed deposits and pledge/lien on other types of assets as in bank guarantees. 

Estimates of fair value are based on the value of collateral assessed at the time of borrowing and generally 

are updated on a regular basis depending on the type of asset.  

 

As per the guidelines of the Central Bank of the UAE, mortgaged collaterals are required to be disposed 

off within a period of three years from the date of acquisition. However, as per guidelines of Central Bank 

of Egypt, all moveable assets acquired are required to be disposed of within a period of one year and 

immovable assets within a period of five years. 

 

To the extent possible, the Bank uses active market data for valuing financial assets, held as collateral. 

Other financial assets which do not have a readily determinable market value are valued using models. 

Non-financial collateral, such as real estate, is valued based on data provided by third parties such as 

mortgage brokers, housing price indices, audited financial statements and other independent sources. 

 

 



UNION NATIONAL BANK - Public Joint Stock Company 

 

60 

 

 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2018 (continued) 
 

 

3 Financial risk management (continued) 

 

3.1 Credit risk (continued) 
 

3.1.1 Credit risk management (continued) 

 

Collateral and other credit enhancements obtained (continued) 

 

The table below shows the lower of the collateral value or the collateralised loan outstanding balance as 

at the reporting date: 

 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 

   

Against loans and advances not impaired   

Property 13,583,164 12,483,979 

Securities 3,199,106 4,190,875 

Cash margins and lien over fixed deposits 400,826 597,329 

Others 1,083,926 1,569,170 

 ------------------ ------------------ 

 18,267,022 18,841,353 

                                               

   

Against individually impaired   

Property 741,870 809,382 

Securities 37,648 54,759 

Cash margins and lien over fixed deposits 1,043 10,167 

Others 20,408 3,613 

 ------------------ ------------------ 

 800,969 877,921 

                                               

   

Among all financial assets, loans and advances with a carrying amount of AED 72,284,434 thousand 

(2017: AED 71,137,305 thousand) have collaterals with fair value of AED  36,130,600 thousand (2017: 

AED 40,905,456 thousand). 

 

Credit concentration 

 

Concentrations of credit risk that arise from financial instruments exist for groups of counterparties 

having similar economic characteristics, that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations, 

affected by changes in economic or other conditions. 

 

The major concentrations of credit risk arise by location and type of counterparties or issuer in relation to 

the Group’s investments, loans and advances, due from banks and commitments to extend credit and 

guarantees issued. Other than the exposure to UAE government entities, which is high in nature, the 

Group has no significant exposure to any individual customer or counterparty. The Group monitors 

concentration of credit risk by economic sector, geographic locations and counterparties. 
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3 Financial risk management (continued) 

 

3.1 Credit risk (continued) 
 

3.1.2 Exposure to credit risk 
 

Analysis of financial assets by economic sector is as follows: 

 

  

Cash and 

balances with 

central banks 

 

Due from 

banks 

Loans and 

advances 

measured at 

amortised 

cost 

 

Investments 

(except 

equity) 

 

 

Total 

31 December 2018 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

      

Financial institutions 634,739 4,196,769 9,728,748 6,767,490 21,327,746 

Consumer - - 19,228,808 - 19,228,808 

Sovereign 6,250,963 - 3,478,841 8,321,085 18,050,889 

Real estate and mortgage  - - 13,745,387 736,675 14,482,062 

Services - - 6,571,452 904,597 7,476,049 

Trade - - 6,393,376 433,553 6,826,929 

Energy - - 4,813,843 1,803,529 6,617,372 

Construction - - 3,969,135 - 3,969,135 

Manufacturing - - 3,647,794 188,494 3,836,288 

Others - - 4,551,007 - 4,551,007 

 ------------------ ---------------- ------------------ ------------------ -------------------- 

Gross balance 6,885,702 4,196,769 76,128,391 19,155,423 106,366,285 

Impairment allowance - (257) (3,797,186)  (12,184) (3,809,627)  

 ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ -------------------- 
Net balance 6,885,702 4,196,512 72,331,205 19,143,239 102,556,658 

                                                                                                                  

31 December 2017      

      

Financial institutions 772,787 1,745,750 9,253,621 7,802,367 19,574,525 

Consumer - - 20,516,639 - 20,516,639 

Sovereign 8,423,669 - 4,651,401 9,068,191 22,143,261 

Real estate and mortgage  - - 11,064,914 980,387 12,045,301 

Services - - 7,016,487 807,397 7,823,884 

Trade - - 5,648,120 169,641 5,817,761 

Energy - - 4,259,996 1,661,785 5,921,781 

Construction - - 4,095,460 - 4,095,460 

Manufacturing - - 3,443,975 463,800 3,907,775 

Others - - 4,297,346 - 4,297,346 

 ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ -------------------- 

Gross balance 9,196,456 1,745,750 74,247,959 20,953,568 106,143,733 

Impairment allowance - (104) (3,110,654) - (3,110,758) 

 ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ -------------------- 

Net balance 9,196,456 1,745,646 71,137,305 20,953,568 103,032,975 
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3 Financial risk management (continued) 

 

3.1 Credit risk (continued) 
 

3.1.2 Exposure to credit risk (continued) 
 

Maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of any collateral and other credit 

enhancements 

 

The table below shows the gross maximum exposure to credit risk without taking into consideration the 

effect of credit risk mitigants through the use of master netting and collateral agreements. 

 

 Gross Gross 

 maximum maximum 

 exposure exposure 

 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 

   

Balances with central banks 6,250,963 8,423,669 

Due from banks 4,196,512 1,745,646 

Loans and advances measured at amortised cost 72,331,205 71,137,305 

Investments (except equity) 19,143,239 20,953,568 

Other assets 1,784,497 1,716,142 

 -------------------- -------------------- 

Total 103,706,416 103,976,330 

                                                   

   

Contingent liabilities [Note 28(b)] 29,633,044 31,248,847 

Loans and advances commitments – irrevocable [Note 28(a)] 3,780,840 2,471,487 

 -------------------- -------------------- 

Total 33,413,884 33,720,334 

 -------------------- -------------------- 

Total maximum credit risk exposure 137,120,300 137,696,664 

                                                   

 

Where financial instruments are recorded at fair value the amounts shown above represent the current 

credit risk exposure but not the maximum risk exposure that could arise in the future as a result of 

changes in values. 
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3 Financial risk management (continued) 

 

3.1 Credit risk (continued) 
 

3.1.2 Exposure to credit risk (continued) 
 

Geographic concentrations of consolidated statement of financial position items are presented in the table 

below. 

 

  GCC*     

  (excluding OECD**   

 UAE UAE) countries Others Total 

31 December 2018 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

      

ASSETS      

Financial assets      

Cash and balances with central 

banks 6,098,670 32,099 - 754,933 6,885,702 

Due from banks 1,634,622 198,838 1,903,125 459,927 4,196,512 

Loans and advances measured at 

   amortised cost 
 

65,322,059 

 

1,653,122 

 

2,571 

 

5,353,453 

 

72,331,205 

Investments 12,440,805 1,380,174 456,989 4,996,796 19,274,764 

Other assets 1,695,402 12,141 6 76,948 1,784,497 

      

Non-financial assets      

Investment properties 1,869,825 - - - 1,869,825 

Other assets 212,545 1,770 - 35,528 249,843 

Property and equipment 179,994 2,641 - 133,431 316,066 

Goodwill - - - 80,795 80,795 

 ------------------ ----------------- ----------------- ------------------ --------------------- 

 89,453,922 3,280,785 2,362,691 11,891,811 106,989,209 

                                                                                                                      

      

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY      

Financial liabilities      

Customers’ deposits 58,328,824 6,251,458 71,789 12,787,558 77,439,629 

Due to banks 3,134,285 76,232 12,926 176,929 3,400,372 

Medium term borrowings - - 5,115,605 - 5,115,605 

Other liabilities 1,504,653 15,368 29,569 147,766 1,697,356 

      

Non-financial liabilities      

Other liabilities 308,769 7,867 - 63,329 379,965 

      

Equity 18,940,348 - - 15,934 18,956,282 

 -------------------------- -------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------- --------------------- 

 82,216,879 6,350,925 5,229,889 13,191,516 106,989,209 

                                                                                                                      

 

*Gulf Cooperation Council 

**Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development 
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3 Financial risk management (continued) 

 

3.1 Credit risk (continued) 
 

3.1.2 Exposure to credit risk (continued) 
 

  GCC*     

  (excluding OECD**   

 UAE UAE) countries Others Total 

31 December 2017 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

      

ASSETS      

Financial assets      

Cash and balances with central 

banks 8,462,241 47,813 - 686,402 9,196,456 

Due from banks 940,937 133,948 147,563 523,198 1,745,646 

Loans and advances 66,055,381 1,569,376 2,853 3,509,695 71,137,305 

Investments 12,073,830 2,345,403 1,519,386 5,127,990 21,066,609 

Other assets 1,643,911 8,684 18 63,529 1,716,142 

      

Non-financial assets      

Investment properties 2,040,269 - - - 2,040,269 

Other assets 203,242 2,293 - 29,862 235,397 

Property and equipment 183,572 5,214 - 110,076 298,862 

Goodwill - - - 81,418 81,418 

 ------------------ ----------------- ----------------- ------------------ --------------------- 

 91,603,383 4,112,731 1,669,820 10,132,170 107,518,104 

                                                                                                                     

      

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY      

Financial liabilities      

Customers’ deposits 62,196,676 4,652,174 78,109 11,762,381 78,689,340 

Due to banks 327,099 240,963 40,519 108,465 717,046 

Medium term borrowings 934,723 421,541 4,988,338 146,623 6,491,225 

Other liabilities 1,622,438 17,817 29,569 127,346 1,797,170 

      

Non-financial liabilities      

Other liabilities 285,970 5,394 - 65,460 356,824 

      

Equity 19,451,501 - - 14,998 19,466,499 

 -------------------------- -------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------- --------------------- 

 84,818,407 5,337,889 5,136,535 12,225,273 107,518,104 

                                                                                                                     

 

*Gulf Cooperation Council 

**Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development 
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3 Financial risk management (continued) 

 

3.2 Liquidity risk 

 

Liquidity or funding risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting all foreseeable 

funding commitments and deposits withdrawal that may arise. It includes both the risk of being unable to 

fund assets at appropriate maturities and rates and the risk of being unable to liquidate an asset at a 

reasonable price and in an appropriate time frame in order to meet the funding requirements. 

 

Management of liquidity risk 

 

The Group manages liquidity risk by having access to a diverse funding base. Funds are raised using a 

broad range of instruments including customer deposits, money market deposits, medium term 

borrowings and capital. The management monitors the maturity profiles to ensure that adequate liquidity 

is maintained. This enhances funding flexibility, limits dependence on one source of funds and also 

lowers the cost of funds. ALCO is responsible for review and approval of liquidity policies and 

procedures. 

 

Minimum liquidity ratio limits are set for Bank and its subsidiary bank. Limits reflect the local 

marketplace, the diversity of funding sources available, and the concentration risk from large depositors. 

The Bank and its banking subsidiary monitor liquidity ratio limits set and comply with liquidity ratios 

prescribed by the local regulators. 

 

Analysis of financial liabilities by contractual undiscounted payment obligations 

 

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities as at 31 December 

2018 and 31 December 2017 based on the contractual undiscounted payment obligations. Repayments 

which are subject to notice are treated as if notice were given immediately. However, the Group expects 

that many customers will not request repayment on the earliest date the Group could be required to pay 

and the table does not reflect the expected cash flows indicated by the Group's deposit retention history. 

 
 Up to From three From one From three   

 three months to year to years to Over  

 months one year three years five years five years Total 

31 December 2018 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

       

Customers’ deposits 46,074,903 28,405,773 3,884,222 112,756 26,802 78,504,456 

Due to banks 3,249,040 154,354 31 756 10,154 3,414,335 

Medium term borrowings 48,499 133,393 2,567,914 3,061,295 - 5,811,101 

Other liabilities 1,067,913 502,095 50,199 19,976 57,173 1,697,356 

 ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- 

Total 50,440,355 29,195,615 6,502,366 3,194,783 94,129 89,427,248 

                                                                                                                         

       

31 December 2017       

Customers’ deposits 54,251,987 23,132,638 2,256,820 33,496 30,715 79,705,656 

Due to banks 715,046 - - 1,024 4,270 720,340 

Medium term borrowings 400,299 2,960,910 187,340 3,407,142 - 6,955,691 

Other liabilities 1,322,821 444,432 29,917 - - 1,797,170 

 ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- 

Total 56,690,153 26,537,980 2,474,077 3,441,662 34,985 89,178,857 
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3 Financial risk management (continued) 

 

3.2 Liquidity risk (continued) 

 

Maturity profile of assets and liabilities 

 

The following table reflects the contractual maturities of assets and liabilities which have been determined 

on the basis of the remaining period to maturity as at the reporting date. It does not take account of the 

effective maturities as indicated by the Group’s deposit retention history and the availability of liquid 

funds. 

 

The maturity profile of assets and liabilities at 31 December 2018 was as follows: 

 
 Up to From three From one From three    

 three months to year to years to Over Unspecified  

 months one year three years five years five years maturity Total 

31 December 2018 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

        

ASSETS        

Cash and balances  

   with central banks 6,824,178 61,524 - - - - 6,885,702 

Due from banks 4,170,816 7,331 18,365 - - - 4,196,512 

Loans and advances 

measured at 

amortised cost 10,651,495  6,762,694 13,551,512 12,086,926 29,278,578 - 
 

72,331,205 

Investments 2,200,357 4,549,496 4,996,311 3,072,081 4,113,663 342,856 19,274,764 

Investment properties      1,869,825 1,869,825 

Other assets 1,062,460 526,524 81,759 60,035 187,118 116,444 2,034,340 

Property and 

  equipment - - - - - 316,066 316,066 

Goodwill - - - - - 80,795 80,795 

 ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- 

Total 24,909,306 11,907,569 18,647,947 15,219,042 33,579,359 2,725,986 106,989,209 

                                                                                                                                             

        

        

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY       

Customers’ deposits 45,806,144 27,721,383 3,774,320 111,915 25,867 - 77,439,629 

Due to banks 3,239,701 150,030 27 745 9,869  3,400,372 

Medium term 

  borrowings - - 2,195,511 2,920,094 - - 5,115,605 

Other liabilities 1,172,962 580,173 80,116 32,261 58,881 152,928 2,077,321 

Equity      18,956,282 18,956,282 

 --------------------- -------------------- ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ----------------------- ----------------------- 

Total 50,218,807  28,451,586 6,049,974 3,065,015 94,617 19,109,210 106,989,209 

 --------------------- -------------------- ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ----------------------- ----------------------- 

Net liquidity gap (25,309,501)  (16,544,017) 12,597,973 12,154,027 33,484,742 (16,383,224)  - 
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3 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

3.2 Liquidity risk (continued) 
 

The maturity profile of assets and liabilities at 31 December 2017 was as follows: 
 

 Up to From three From one From three    

 three months to year to years to Over Unspecified  

 months one year three years five years five years maturity Total 

31 December 2017 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 
        
ASSETS        

       
Cash and balances  

   with central banks 5,146,456 4,050,000 - - - - 9,196,456 

Due from banks 1,437,738 289,542 18,366 - - - 1,745,646 

Loans and advances 11,725,438 7,287,476 12,600,392 11,682,188 27,841,811 - 71,137,305 

Investments 2,804,577 4,417,945 4,932,544 4,437,455 4,398,573 75,515 21,066,609 

Investment properties - - - - - 2,040,269 2,040,269 

Other assets 1,024,408 378,062 45,220 73,490 123,875 306,484 1,951,539 

Property and equipment - - - - - 298,862 298,862 

Goodwill - - - - - 81,418 81,418 

 ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- 

Total 22,138,617 16,423,025 17,596,522 16,193,133 32,364,259 2,802,548 107,518,104 

                                                                                                                                             
        
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY       

       
Customers’ deposits 53,819,440 22,627,498 2,199,948 27,270 15,184 - 78,689,340 

Due to banks 711,873 - - 1,001 4,172 - 717,046 

Medium term borrowings 376,969 2,830,671 - 3,283,585 - - 6,491,225 

Other liabilities 1,168,388 464,453 83,410 27,088 19,178 391,477 2,153,994 

Equity - - - - - 19,466,499 19,466,499 

 --------------------- -------------------- ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ----------------------- ----------------------- 

Total 56,076,670 25,922,622 2,283,358 3,338,944 38,534 19,857,976 107,518,104 

 --------------------- -------------------- ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ----------------------- ----------------------- 

Net liquidity gap (33,938,053) (9,499,597) 15,313,164 12,854,189 32,325,725 (17,055,428) - 

                                                                                                                                              

        

3.3 Market risk  
 

Market risk is the risk that movement in market risk factors e.g. interest rates, foreign exchange rates, 

credit spreads and equity prices will affect the Group’s income or the value of its financial instruments. 
 

Management of market risk 
 

The Group separates its exposure for market risk purposes into trading and non-trading portfolio. All 

trading instruments are recognised at fair value, and changes in fair value are directly shown in profit or 

loss. The principal tool used to measure and control market risk for trading portfolio is Value at Risk 

(VaR). The VaR of a trading portfolio is the estimated loss that will arise on the portfolio over one month 

time horizon from an adverse market movement with 99% confidence level. The VaR model used is 

based on parametric methodology with historical simulation of at least one year. Exposure to market risk 

is managed in accordance with risk limits set by senior management in response to changing market 

conditions. 
 

Interest rate risk is the risk that arises from timing difference in the maturity and/or repricing of Group’s 

assets, liabilities and derivative financial instruments. Repricing mismatch expose the Group to the 

unanticipated fluctuations in interest income or underlying economic value. 
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3 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

3.3 Market risk (continued) 
 

3.3.1 Interest rate risk 

 

The Group manages the interest rate risk by monitoring the interest rate mismatch and uses various 

derivative e.g. interest rate swaps, cross currency interest rate swaps to manage the risk. The Group’s 

operations are subject to the risk of interest rate fluctuations to the extent that interest-earning assets 

(including investments) and interest-bearing liabilities mature or reprice at different times or in differing 

amounts. In the case of floating rate assets and liabilities the Group is also exposed to basis risk, which is 

the difference in repricing characteristics of the various floating rate indices, such as the savings rate, or 

six months LIBOR, etc. The Group proactively manages its interest rate sensitivity position, based on 

anticipated and actual interest rate movements, in order to maximise net interest income. 
 

The Group’s interest rate sensitivity positions as at 31 December 2018, based on the contractual repricing 

or maturity dates, whichever earlier, is as follows: 
 
 Up to From three From one From three  Non  

 three months to year to years to Over interest  

 months one year three years five years five years bearing Total 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

ASSETS        

Cash and balances with 

central banks 
 

3,574,083 

 

61,524 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 
 

3,250,095 

 

6,885,702 

Due from banks 3,681,853 7,331 - - - 507,328 4,196,512 

Loans and advances 

measured at amortised 

cost 

 

 

46,150,837 

 

 

14,553,933 

 

 

2,899,181 

 

 

2,654,659 

 

 

5,235,509 

 

 

837,086 

 

 

72,331,205 

Investments 2,701,669 4,495,866 4,868,118 3,003,026 4,113,663 92,422 19,274,764 

Investment properties - - - - - 1,869,825 1,869,825 

Other assets 13,731 20,190 8,507 - - 1,991,912 2,034,340 

Property and equipment - - - - - 316,066 316,066 

Goodwill - - - - - 80,795 80,795 

 ----------------------- ---------------------- ---------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- 

Total 56,122,173 19,138,844 7,775,806 5,657,685 9,349,172 8,945,529 106,989,209 

                                                                                                                                          
        

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY       

Customers’ deposits 31,814,995 27,720,639 3,774,523 112,562 25,010 13,991,900 77,439,629 

Due to banks 3,091,924 150,030 27 745 9,869 147,777 3,400,372 

Medium term 

  borrowings 

 

1,093,599 

 

- 

 

2,195,511 

 

1,826,495 

 

- 

 

- 

 

5,115,605 

Other liabilities - - - - - 2,077,321 2,077,321 

Equity 2,000,000 - - - - 16,956,282 18,956,282 

 ----------------------- ---------------------- ---------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- 

Total 38,000,518 27,870,669 5,970,061 1,939,802 34,879 33,173,280 106,989,209 

                                                                                                                                           

Total on statement  

   of financial position    

   interest rate sensitivity  

   gap 18,121,655  (8,731,825) 1,805,745 3,717,883 9,314,293 - - 

Total off statement of  

   financial position  

   interest rate sensitivity  

   gap 11,131,385 (2,130,013) (3,383,627) (2,539,739) (3,078,006) - - 

                                                                                                                                           

Cumulative interest rate 

   sensitivity gap 29,253,040 18,391,202 16,813,320 17,991,464 24,227,751 - - 
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3 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

3.3 Market risk (continued) 

 

3.3.1 Interest rate risk (continued) 

 

The Group’s interest rate sensitivity positions as at 31 December 2017, based on the contractual repricing 

or maturity dates, whichever earlier, is as follows: 

 
 Up to From three From one From three  Non  

 three months to year to years to Over interest  

 months one year three years five years five years bearing Total 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 
        
ASSETS        

Cash and balances 

with central banks 

 

442,930 

 

4,050,000 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

4,703,526 

 

9,196,456 

Due from banks 1,396,125 105,892 - - - 243,629 1,745,646 

Loans and advances 44,350,722 16,130,805 2,445,450 3,871,977 3,291,211 1,047,140 71,137,305 

Investments 3,471,454 4,167,921 4,829,788 4,124,537 4,398,573 74,336 21,066,609 

Investment properties - - - - - 2,040,269 2,040,269 

Other assets 11,205 44,647 - 25,789 - 1,869,898 1,951,539 

Property and equipment - - - - - 298,862 298,862 

Goodwill - - - - - 81,418 81,418 

 ----------------------- ---------------------- ---------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- 

Total 49,672,436 24,499,265 7,275,238 8,022,303 7,689,784 10,359,078 107,518,104 

                                                                                                                                          
        

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY       

Customers’ deposits 38,399,075 22,627,498 2,199,949 32,571 9,882 15,420,365 78,689,340 

Due to banks 638,570 - - 1,001 4,172 73,303 717,046 

Medium term 

  borrowings 

 

4,217,409 

 

81,487 

 

- 

 

2,192,329 

 

- 

 

- 

 

6,491,225 

Other liabilities - - - - - 2,153,994 2,153,994 

Equity 2,000,000 - - - - 17,466,499 19,466,499 

 ----------------------- ---------------------- ---------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- 

Total 45,255,054 22,708,985 2,199,949 2,225,901 14,054 35,114,161 107,518,104 

                                                                                                                                           
Total on statement  

   of financial position  

   interest rate  

   sensitivity gap 4,417,382 1,790,280 5,075,289 5,796,402 7,675,730 - - 

Total off statement of  

   financial position  

   interest rate  

   sensitivity gap 10,339,093 (2,637,075) (2,649,657) (2,426,863) (2,625,498) - - 

                                                                                                                                           
Cumulative interest  

   rate sensitivity gap 14,756,475 13,909,680 16,335,312 19,704,851 24,755,083 - - 

                                                                                                                                           
        

There is no change in the methods and assumptions used in presenting the interest rate sensitivity analysis 

for year 2018 and year 2017. 
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for the year ended 31 December 2018 (continued) 
 

 

 

3 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

3.3 Market risk (continued) 
 

3.3.1 Interest rate risk (continued) 
 

Interest rate risk is also assessed by measuring the impact of reasonable possible change in interest rate 

movements. The Group assumes a fluctuation in interest rates of 25 basis points and estimates the 

following impact on the net interest income for the year and equity at that date: 
 

 2018 2017 

 Net interest Market value Net interest Market value 

 income of equity income of equity 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 
     

Fluctuation in yield     

25 bps increase 53,808 (74,896) 31,486 (107,462) 

25 bps decrease (53,808) 74,896 (31,486) 107,462 
 

The interest rate sensitivities set out above are illustrative only and employ simplified scenarios. They are 

based on interest bearing assets of AED 98,044 million (2017: AED 97,159 million) and interest bearing 

liabilities and equity of AED 73,816 million (2017: AED 72,404 million). The sensitivity does not 

incorporate actions that could be taken by management to mitigate the effect of interest rate movements. 
 

3.3.2 Foreign currency risk 
 

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk through transactions in foreign currencies. The Group’s 

transactional exposures give rise to foreign currency gains and losses that are recognised in profit or loss. 

These exposures comprise the monetary assets and monetary liabilities of the Group that are not 

denominated in the functional currency of the Bank. The Group ensures that its net foreign currency 

exposure is kept at an acceptable level by buying and selling foreign currencies at spot rates when 

appropriate. 
 

The following table shows the Group’s exposure to foreign currencies as at 31 December 2018: 
 

  

 

Assets 

 

 

Liabilities 

 

Net cash 

position 

 

Net forward 

position 

Net long /  

(short) 

 position 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 
      
US Dollar* 39,885,067 26,081,753 13,803,314 (8,784,226) 5,019,088 

Egyptian Pound 5,970,536 5,631,041 339,495 (9,315) 330,180 

Kuwaiti Dinar 787,994 547,940 240,054 - 240,054 

Chinese Yuan 106,272 42 106,230 (80,114) 26,116 

Qatari Riyal 105,030 3,442 101,588 (100,879) 709 

Swiss Franc 73,286 1,712 71,574 (71,266) 308 

Japanese Yen 275,621 272,052 3,569 (3,371) 198 

Euro 1,442,717 522,452 920,265 (920,105) 160 

Saudi Riyal 337,228 2,941,241 (2,604,013) 2,603,205 (808) 

UK Sterling 32,248 30,366 1,882 (2,751) (869) 

Others 39,913 6,144 33,769 (30,726) 3,043 
 ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ 
 49,055,912 36,038,185 13,017,727 (7,399,548) 5,618,179 
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for the year ended 31 December 2018 (continued) 
 

 

3 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

3.3 Market risk (continued) 
 

3.3.2 Foreign currency risk (continued) 

 

The following table shows the Group’s exposure to foreign currencies as at 31 December 2017: 
 

  

Assets 

 

Liabilities 

Net cash 

position 

Net forward 

position 

Net long / 

(short) position 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 
      
US Dollar* 39,280,558 26,596,509 12,684,049 (2,553,088) 10,130,961 

Egyptian Pound 4,977,488 4,582,942 394,546 (11,385) 383,161 

Kuwaiti Dinar 643,791 383,864 259,927 - 259,927 

Chinese Yuan 85,413 704 84,709 (84,579) 130 

Qatari Riyal 120,543 3,816 116,727 (115,979) 748 

Swiss Franc 151,630 379,236 (227,606) 230,894 3,288 

Japanese Yen 98,935 163,143 (64,208) 64,375 167 

Euro 1,811,381  718,044 1,093,337  (1,091,463) 1,874 

Saudi Riyal 390,917 924,648 (533,731) 555,216 21,485 

UK Sterling 65,633 58,339  7,294  (6,146) 1,148 

Others 46,028 8,362 37,666 (36,615) 1,051 

 ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ 

 47,672,317 33,819,607 13,852,710 (3,048,770) 10,803,940 

                                                                                              

 

* The exchange rate of AED is pegged against the US Dollar since November 1980 hence the Bank’s 

exposure to US Dollar is limited to that extent. 

 

Market risk is also assessed by measuring the impact of reasonable possible change in exchange rate 

movements. The table below illustrate the impact on net profit and equity of the Group due to change in 

exchange rate by 1%. 
 

 2018  2017 

 Net profit Equity  Net profit Equity 

 AED’000 AED’000  AED’000 AED’000 
      
Increase in exchange rate by 1%      

USD 50,191 50,191  101,310 101,310 

EGP 3,302 3,302  3,832 3,832 

KWD 2,401 2,401  2,599 2,599 

      

Decrease in exchange rate by 1%      

USD (50,191) (50,191)  (101,310) (101,310) 

EGP (3,302) (3,302)  (3,832) (3,832) 

KWD (2,401) (2,401)  (2,599) (2,599) 

 

The foreign exchange sensitivity set out above is for illustrative purposes only and employ simplified 

scenario. The sensitivity does not incorporate actions that could be taken by management to mitigate the 

effect of exchange rate movements. 
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3 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

3.3 Market risk (continued) 

 

3.3.3 Equity price risk 

 

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equities decrease as the result of changes in the levels 

of equity indices and the value of individual stocks. The equity price risk exposure arises from the 

Group’s investment portfolio. 

 

The following table estimates the sensitivity to a possible change in equity markets on profit or loss. The 

sensitivity of profit or loss is the effect of the assumed change in the reference equity benchmark on the 

fair value of investments carried at fair value through the profit or loss. 

 

 

Investments designated at fair value through profit or loss 

Assumed 

level of Impact on net income 

 change 2018 2017 

 % AED’000 AED’000 

Reference equity benchmarks:    

UAE equity exchanges 5% 18 - 

Other equity exchanges 5% 2,918 2,321 

Net asset value of managed funds 5% 129 149 

 

The effect on equity (as a result of a change in the fair value of equity instruments held as FVTOCI) due 

to a reasonably possible change in equity indices, with all other variables held constant, is as follows:  

 

FVTOCI investments 

Assumed 

level of Impact on equity 

 change 2018 2017 

 % AED’000 AED’000 

Reference equity benchmarks:    

UAE equity exchanges 5% 1,323 666 

Other equity exchanges 5% 245 345 

 

3.3.4  Prepayment risk 

 

Prepayment risk is the risk that the Bank will incur a financial loss because its customers and 

counterparties repay or request repayment earlier or later than expected, such as fixed rate mortgages 

when interest rates fall. 

 

The effect on profit for one year, assuming 10% of repayable financial instruments were to be repaid at 

the beginning of the year, with all other variables held constant, is estimated at AED 52,025 thousand 

(2017: AED 39,830 thousand). 
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3 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

3.4 Operational risk 

 

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with 

the Group’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure and from external factors other than 

credit, market and liquidity risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and 

generally accepted standards of corporate behaviour. Operational risks arise from all the Group’s 

operations and are faced by all business entities. 

 

The primary responsibility for risk identification, assessment, measurement and the development and 

implementation of controls to address operational risk is assigned to senior management within each 

business unit. This responsibility is supported by the development of overall Group standards for the 

management of operational risks in the following areas: 

 

• Requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent authorisation of 

transactions 

• Requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions 

• Compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements 

• Documentation of controls and procedures 

• Requirements for the periodic assessment of operational risks faced and the adequacy of controls and 

procedures to address the risks identified 

• Requirements for the reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial action 

• Development of contingency plans 

• Training and professional development 

• Ethical and business standards 

• Risk mitigation, including insurance where this is effective 

 

Compliance with Group standards is supported by a programme of periodic reviews undertaken by 

Internal Audit and results are submitted to the Audit Committee and senior management of the Group. 

 

3.5 Fair value measurement 

 

The Group’s consolidated financial statements are prepared on a fair value basis for derivative financial 

instruments, financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss, FVTOCI 

investments and financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss, except those for which 

a reliable measure of fair value is not available. Other financial assets and liabilities are stated at 

amortised cost or historical cost. These include the investments measured at amortised cost, loans and 

advances measured at amortised cost, deposits and other balances, due from banks, customers' deposits, 

due to banks and medium term borrowings. 

 

The fair value of the Group’s assets and liabilities is not materially different from the carrying value at              

31 December 2018 since assets and liabilities are either short-term in nature, valued using quoted market 

prices or, in the case of loans and advances and deposits, frequently re-priced. The fair value of 

investments measured at amortised cost is disclosed in Note 15. 
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3 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

3.5 Fair value measurement (continued) 

 

The table below sets out the Group’s classification of each class of financial assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts as at 31 December 2018: 

 
  Fair value  Investments  Loans and    

 Fair value through other measured  receivables Other   

 through comprehensive  at amortised  at amortised  amortised Hedging Carrying 

 profit or loss income  cost  cost  cost derivatives amount 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

        

FINANCIAL ASSETS        

        

Cash and balances with central banks - - - - 6,885,702 - 6,885,702 

Due from banks - - - - 4,196,512 - 4,196,512 

Loans and advances measured at amortised cost - - - 72,331,205 - - 72,331,205 

Investments 309,863 17,797,893 1,167,008 - - - 19,274,764 

Other assets 212,210 - - 681,551 777,122 113,614 1,784,497 

 ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ----------------------- 

 522,073 17,797,893 1,167,008 73,012,756 11,859,336 113,614 104,472,680  

                                                                                                                            

        

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES        

        

Customers’ deposits - - - - 77,439,629 - 77,439,629 

Due to banks - - - - 3,400,372 - 3,400,372 

Medium term borrowings - - - - 5,115,605 - 5,115,605 

Other liabilities 84,435 - - - 1,550,592 62,329 1,697,356 

 ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ --------------------- 

 84,435 - - - 87,506,198 62,329 87,652,962 
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3 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

3.5 Fair value measurement (continued) 

 

The table below sets out the Group’s classification of each class of financial assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts as at 31 December 2017: 

 
  Designated       

  at fair value    Other   

 Held for through Available  Held to Loans and amortised  Hedging Carrying 

 trading profit or loss for sale maturity receivables cost derivatives amount 

 AED ‘000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

         

FINANCIAL ASSETS         

         

Cash and balances with central banks - - - - - 9,196,456 - 9,196,456 

Due from banks - - - - - 1,745,646 - 1,745,646 

Loans and advances - - - - 71,137,305 - - 71,137,305 

Investments 1,526 52,128 17,696,435 3,316,520 - - - 21,066,609 

Other assets 90,206 188,140 - - 538,532 785,650 113,614 1,716,142 

 ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ----------------------- 

 91,732 240,268 17,696,435 3,316,520 71,675,837 11,727,752 113,614 104,862,158 

                                                                                                                                             

         

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES         

         

Customers’ deposits - - - - - 78,689,340 - 78,689,340 

Due to banks - - - - - 717,046 - 717,046 

Medium term borrowings - - - - - 6,491,225 - 6,491,225 

Other liabilities 84,923 188,140 - - - 1,461,778 62,329 1,797,170 

 ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ --------------------- 

 84,923 188,140 - - - 87,359,389 62,329 87,694,781 
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3 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

3.5 Fair value measurement (continued) 

 

Fair value hierarchy 

 

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of assets and 

liabilities by valuation technique: 

 

Quoted market prices – Level 1 

 

Financial instruments are classified as Level 1 if their values are observable in an active market. Such 

instruments are valued by reference to unadjusted quoted bid prices for identical assets or unadjusted 

quoted offer prices for identical liabilities in active markets where the quoted price is readily available, 

and the price represents actual and regularly occurring market transactions. 

 

Valuation techniques using observable inputs – Level 2 

 

Financial instruments classified as Level 2 have been valued using models whose inputs are observable 

in an active market. Valuation based on observable inputs include financial instruments such as swaps 

and forwards which are valued using market standard pricing techniques and options that are commonly 

traded in markets where all the inputs to the market standard pricing models are observable. The category 

includes derivative financial instruments such as certain OTC derivatives, commodity derivatives, 

foreign exchange spot and forward contracts and certain investment securities. These instruments are 

valued using the inputs observable in an active market. Valuation of the derivative financial instruments 

is made through discounted cash flow method using the applicable yield curve for the duration of the 

instruments for non-option derivatives and standard option pricing models such as Black Scholes and 

other valuation models for option derivatives. 

 

Valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs – Level 3  
 

Financial instruments are classified as Level 3 if their valuation incorporates significant inputs that are 

not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). A valuation input is considered observable if 

it can be directly observed from transactions in an active market. Unobservable input levels are generally 

determined based on observable inputs of a similar nature, historical observations or other analytical 

techniques. This category mainly includes investment properties and private equity instruments.  

 

The carrying values of the investments in private equity instruments are adjusted using the latest 

available net book value; and 

 

Investment properties classified as Level 3 are stated at fair value, which has been determined based on 

the valuation performed by independent professional valuers. The valuation methodologies considered by 

external valuers include Comparable Method and Residual Value Method. 
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3 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

3.5 Fair value measurement (continued) 

 

Fair value hierarchy (continued) 

 

The table below shows the hierarchy used by the Group for the assets and liabilities that are measured at 

fair value or for which fair value information is disclosed as at 31 December 2018: 

 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

Assets     

Investments measured at fair value  

   through profit or loss 307,281 2,583 - 309,864 

Investments measured at fair value  

   through other comprehensive income  
 

15,717,317 

 

2,028,943 

 

51,633 

 

17,797,893 

Derivative financial instruments - 325,824 - 325,824 

Other assets - - - - 

Investment properties - - 1,869,825 1,869,825 

 ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ 

 16,024,598 2,357,350 1,921,458 20,303,406 

                                                                                   

Liabilities     

Derivative financial instruments - 146,764 - 146,764 

Other liabilities - - - - 

 ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ 

 - 146,764 - 146,764 

                                                                                   

     

For disclosure purposes     

Investments measured at amortised cost 976,872 174,485 - 1,151,357 

                                                                                   

     

The below table shows the hierarchy used by the Group for the assets and liabilities that are measured at 

fair value or for which fair value information is disclosed as at 31 December 2017: 

 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

     

Assets     

Held for trading investments 1,526 - - 1,526 

Financial assets designated at fair value 

through profit or loss 49,148 2,980 - 52,128 

Available for sale investments 15,586,775 2,055,865 53,795 17,696,435 

Derivative financial instruments - 203,820 - 203,820 

Other assets - 188,140 - 188,140 

Investment properties - - 2,040,269 2,040,269 

 ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ 

 15,637,449 2,450,805 2,094,064 20,182,318 
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3 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

3.5 Fair value measurement (continued) 

 

Fair value hierarchy (continued) 

 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

Liabilities     

Derivative financial instruments - 147,252 - 147,252 

Other liabilities - 188,140 - 188,140 

 ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ 

 - 335,392 - 335,392 

                                                                                   

     

For disclosure purposes     

Held to maturity investments 3,300,745 30,453 - 3,331,198 

                                                                                   

     

During the year ended 31 December 2018, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value 

measurements, and no transfers into and out of Level 3 fair value measurements (2017: Nil). Movement 

of financial assets measured based on the Level 3 hierarchy are as follows: 

 

 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 

   

Opening balance 2,094,064 2,086,554 

Additions 84,261 40,116 

Settlement/sale (3,067) (5,500) 

Transfers (21,956) - 

Net loss on fair valuation (231,832) (27,188) 

Exchange differences (12) 82 

 ---------------- ---------------- 

 1,921,458 2,094,064 

                                   

 

 

4 Interest income 

 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 

   

Loans and advances measured at amortised cost 3,640,834 3,285,803 

Due from banks 199,502 138,307 

Investments measured at:   

- Fair value through other comprehensive income 672,726 424,048 

- Amortised cost 126,371 164,288 

- Fair value through profit or loss - 414 

 ---------------- ---------------- 

 4,639,433 4,012,860 
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5 Interest expense 

 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 

   

Customers’ deposits 1,699,431 1,375,201 

Due to banks and medium term borrowings 299,505 192,878 

 ------------------ ------------------ 

 1,998,936 1,568,079 

                                     

 

 

6 Income from Islamic financing 

 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 

   

Murabaha 195,091 185,949 

Ijara 100,904 124,419 

Mudaraba 745 2,020 

Wakala - 1,428 

Others 10,914 7,157 

 --------------- --------------- 

 307,654 320,973 

                                            

   

  

7 Net fee and commission income 

 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 

   

Fee and commission income:   

Credit related fees 180,830 171,843 

Trade related fees 167,652 186,133 

Retail fees  143,804 323,659 

Account service charges 84,008 90,339 

Brokerage income 4,832 5,696 

Others 43,488 44,400 

 --------------- --------------- 

 624,614 822,070 

                                                

   

Fee and commission expenses (71,228) (65,976) 

 --------------- --------------- 

 553,386 756,094 
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8 Other operating income 

 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 

   

Rental income 63,212 58,866 

Expense recoveries 12,281 39,391 

Other miscellaneous income 3,907 20,485 

 ------------------ ------------------ 

 79,400 118,742 

                                     

   

 

9 Staff costs 

 

The Group’s contribution to the pension scheme in respect of UAE national employees amounted to 

AED 12,442 thousand (2017: AED 10,418 thousand). 

 

The Bank and its subsidiaries operating in the UAE manage VESS for its employees. Employees 

contribute a certain fixed percentage of their basic salary to VESS and the Group contributes a matching 

amount. The amounts so collected are managed by the Bank. An employee is entitled to the Group’s 

contribution and income thereon upon completion of a continuous period of employment of three years. 

During the year, the Group’s contribution to VESS amounted to AED 14,535 thousand (2017: 

AED 13,195 thousand). At 31 December 2018, the funds managed by the Bank on behalf of the VESS 

amounted to AED Nil (2017: AED 188,140 thousand), as the Scheme’s committee in December 2018 

resolved to close the Scheme with effect from 1 January 2019 after selling all the investments and 

distributing the corpus to the Scheme holders. 

 

 

10 Other operating expenses 

 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 

   

Occupancy costs 133,495 126,861 

Repairs and maintenance 61,243 56,133 

Communication 33,759 30,669 

Advertising and promotion 12,435 15,115 

Other miscellaneous expenses 122,298 116,554 

 ------------------ ------------------ 

 363,230 345,332 

                                     

   

The above operating expenses include payment of AED 664 thousand (2017: AED 30,720 thousand) 

made towards social contribution. 
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11 Impairment charge on financial assets, net 

 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 

   

Impairment charge/(release) on loans and advances 988,472 998,063 

Recovery of loans and advances (135,973) (192,470) 

Impairment charge/(release) on balances with central banks (723) - 

Impairment charge/(release) on due from banks (1,783) - 

Impairment charge/(release) on investments measured at amortised cost 2,613 - 

Impairment charge/(release) on investments measured at FVTOCI 8,572 - 

Impairment charge/(release) on other assets (7,088) - 

Impairment charge/(release) on contingent liabilities (27,607) (11,908) 

 ------------------ ------------------ 

 826,483 793,685 

                                     

   

 

12 Cash and balances with central banks 

 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 

   

Cash on hand 634,739 772,787 

Balances with central banks   

- Deposits and other balances 763,594 1,641,239 

- Cash reserve deposits 2,487,369 2,732,430 

- Certificates of deposit 3,000,000 4,050,000 

 ------------------ ------------------ 

 6,885,702 9,196,456 

Less: Allowance for impairment  - - 

 ------------------ ------------------ 

 6,885,702 9,196,456 

                                     

   

Cash reserve deposits are not available for day-to-day operations to the Bank and its banking subsidiary. 
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13 Due from banks 

 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 

   

Demand 507,131 243,732 

Overnight and short term placements 3,689,638 1,502,018 

 ------------------ ------------------ 

 4,196,769 1,745,750 

Less: Allowance for impairment (257) (104) 

 ------------------ ------------------ 

 4,196,512 1,745,646 

                                     

   

The table below shows the rating wise analysis of due from banks: 

 

 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 

   

Due from banks   

AAA to AA - 333,346 463,303 

A+ to A - 1,938,663 796,733 

BBB+ to BBB - 1,552,543 240,067 

BB+ to BB - 197 830 

B+ and below 2,452 242,764 

Unrated 369,311 1,949 

 ------------------ ------------------ 

 4,196,512 1,745,646 

                                     

   

The table below shows the analysis of due from banks amongst local and foreign banks: 

 

 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 

   

Local banks 1,634,622 940,937 

Foreign banks 2,561,890 804,709 

 ------------------ ------------------ 

 4,196,512 1,745,646 
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14 Loans and advances measured at amortised cost 
 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 

   

Term loans 62,946,109 61,390,833 

Overdrafts 6,297,841 6,905,938 

Islamic financing 6,567,593 5,671,577 

Others 316,848 279,611 

 ------------------ ------------------ 

 76,128,391 74,247,959 

   

Less: Allowance for impairment (3,797,186)  (3,110,654) 

 ------------------ ------------------ 

 72,331,205 71,137,305 

                                     

 
The movement of gross exposure is as follows: 
 2018 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

     

At 1 January 61,142,515 9,903,309 3,202,135 74,247,959 

Net disbursements / (repayments) 3,805,854 (664,673) (131,787) 3,009,394 

Transfer from stage 1 to 2 (743,342) 743,342 - - 

Transfer from stage 1 to 3 (923,642) - 923,642 - 

Transfer from stage 2 to 1 2,709,768 (2,709,768) - - 

Transfer from stage 2 to 3 - (411,082) 411,082 - 

Transfer from stage 3 to 1 7,524 - (7,524) - 

Transfer from stage 3 to 2 - 27,087 (27,087) - 

Amounts written off - - (1,108,989) (1,108,989) 

Foreign currency translation (18,367) (308) (1,298) (19,973) 

 ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ 

At 31 December 65,980,310 6,887,907 3,260,174 76,128,391 

                                                                                 

 
Islamic financing 

 

Loans and advances include the following Islamic financing contracts: 
 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 

   

Murabaha 3,544,963 2,994,016 

Ijara 2,276,988 1,997,771 

Mudaraba 92,651 3,408 

Others 652,991 676,382 

 ------------------ ------------------ 

 6,567,593 5,671,577 

Less: Allowance for impairment (324,663) (204,769) 

 ------------------ ------------------ 

 6,242,930 5,466,808 
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14 Loans and advances measured at amortised cost (continued) 
 

The movement of Islamic financing contracts is as follows: 
 2018 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

     

At 1 January 4,176,177 956,941 538,459 5,671,577 

Net disbursements / (repayments) 1,081,842 (71,225) (13,251) 997,366 

Transfer from stage 1 to 2 (140,465) 140,465 - - 

Transfer from stage 1 to 3 (55,135) - 55,135 - 

Transfer from stage 2 to 1 46,837 (46,837) - - 

Transfer from stage 2 to 3 - (65,909) 65,909 - 

Transfer from stage 3 to 1 7,302 - (7,302) - 

Transfer from stage 3 to 2 - 13,352 (13,352) - 

Amounts written off - - (101,350) (101,350) 

 ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ 

At 31 December 5,116,558 926,787 524,248 6,567,593 

                                                                                 

 

The gross Ijara and the related present value of minimum Ijara payments are as follows: 

 

 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 
   
Gross Ijara   

Less than one year 487,053 520,208 

Between one and three years 602,040 730,212 

Between three and five years 422,988 434,169 

More than five years 1,203,917 785,542 

 ------------------ ------------------ 

 2,715,998 2,470,131 

Less: deferred income (439,010) (472,360) 

 ------------------ ------------------ 

Net Ijara 2,276,988 1,997,771 

 ------------------ ------------------ 

   

Net present value of minimum Ijara payments   

Less than one year 1,029,939 454,108 

Between one and three years 411,219 605,724 

Between three and five years 286,448 358,161 

More than five years 549,382 579,778 

 ------------------ ------------------ 

 2,276,988 1,997,771 

                                        

   

In certain cases, the Group continues to carry classified doubtful debts and delinquent accounts on its 

books even after making 100% allowance for impairment. Interest is accrued where appropriate on these 

accounts for litigation purposes only.  
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14 Loans and advances measured at amortised cost (continued) 
 

The movements in impairment allowance related to loans and receivables during the year are as follows: 

  
 2018  2017 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total  Collective Specific Total 

 impairment impairment impairment impairment  impairment impairment impairment 

 allowance allowance allowance allowance  allowance allowance allowance 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000  AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

         

At 1 January (as per IAS 39) 1,448,857 - 1,661,797 3,110,654  1,524,958 1,331,951 2,856,909 

Effect of change in accounting policy for IFRS 9 (699,371) 1,032,353 482,582 815,564  - - - 
 ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------  ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ 

 749,486 1,032,353 2,144,379 3,926,218  1,524,958 1,331,951 2,856,909 

Charge for the year (net of write backs) (198,455) 256,197 930,730 988,472  (73,034) 1,071,097 998,063 

Transfers - - - -  (4,115) 4,115 - 

Transfer from stage 1 to 2 (25,177) 25,177 - -  - - - 
Transfer from stage 1 to 3 (108,954) - 108,954 -  - - - 
Transfer from stage 2 to 1 271,522 (271,522) - -  - - - 
Transfer from stage 2 to 3 - (102,677) 102,677 -  - - - 
Transfer from stage 3 to 1 - - - -  - - - 
Transfer from stage 3 to 2 - 12,202 (12,202) -  - - - 
Amounts written off - - (1,108,989) (1,108,989)  - (747,222) (747,222) 

Foreign currency translation (290) (64) (8,161) (8,515)  1,048 1,856 2,904 

 ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------  ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ 

 688,132 951,666 2,157,388 3,797,186  1,448,857 1,661,797 3,110,654 
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14 Loans and advances measured at amortised cost (continued) 
 

The movements in impairment allowance related to Islamic financing contracts during the year are as follows: 

 
 2018  2017 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total  Collective Specific Total 

 impairment impairment impairment impairment  impairment impairment impairment 

 allowance allowance allowance allowance  allowance allowance allowance 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000  AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

         

At 1 January 64,312 - 140,457 204,769  63,665 130,885 194,550 

Effect of change in accounting policy for IFRS 9 4,953 103,794 96,062 204,809  - - - 

 ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------  ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ 

 69,265 103,794 236,519 409,578  63,665 130,885 194,550 

Charge for the year (net of write backs) (14,451) (28,176) 59,062 16,435  647 32,772 33,419 

Transfer from stage 1 to 2 (5,030) 5,030 - -  - - - 

Transfer from stage 1 to 3 (1,748) - 1,748 -  - - - 

Transfer from stage 2 to 3 - (4,980) 4,980 -  - - - 

Amounts written off - - (101,350) (101,350)  - (23,200) (23,200) 

 ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------  ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ 

 48,036 75,668 200,959 324,663  64,312 140,457 204,769 
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15 Investments 

 

The analysis of Group’s investments as at 31 December 2018 (classified in accordance with IFRS 9) is as 

follows: 
 

  Investments measured at fair value  

 

 

 

 

 

Investments 

measured at 

amortised cost 

Fair value 

through other 

comprehensive 

income 

 

Fair value through 

profit or loss 

 

 

 

Total 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

Equity instruments:     

  Quoted  - 23,044 56,848 79,892 

  Unquoted  - 51,633 - 51,633 

Debt instruments:     

  Quoted - fixed rate 1,004,706 15,218,255 250,433 16,473,394 

  Quoted - floating rate - 476,018 - 476,018 

   Unquoted - fixed rate 168,435 - - 168,435 

Treasury bills 6,050 2,028,943 - 2,034,993 

Investment in managed  funds - - 2,583 2,583 

 –––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– 

 1,179,191 17,797,893 309,864 19,286,948 

Less: Allowance for impairment  (12,184) - - (12,184) 

 –––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– 

 1,167,007 17,797,893 309,864 19,274,764 

                                                                                         

     

The analysis of Group’s investments as at 31 December 2017 (classified in accordance with IAS 39) is as 

follows: 

 
  Non-trading investments  

 

 

 

 

 

Trading 

investments 

 

Designated at 

fair value 

through profit or 

loss 

 

 

Available  

for sale 

 

 

Held to 

maturity 

 

 

 

Total  

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

Equity instruments:      

  Quoted  347 49,148 9,751 - 59,246 

  Unquoted  - - 53,795 - 53,795 

Debt instruments:      

  Quoted - fixed rate 1,179 - 14,939,531 3,092,840 18,033,550 

  Quoted - floating rate - - 637,493 29,384 666,877 

   Unquoted - fixed rate - - - 163,843 163,843 

Treasury bills - - 2,055,865 30,453 2,086,318 

Investment in managed 

funds 

 

- 

 

2,980 

 

- 

 

- 

 

2,980 

 –––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– 

 1,526 52,128 17,696,435 3,316,520 21,066,609 

                                                                                                              

      

Fair value of investments measured at amortised cost is AED 1,151 million (2017: AED 3,331 million). 
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15 Investments (continued) 

 

The Group has hedged interest rate risks on certain fixed rate FVTOCI investments through interest rate 

swaps and has designated these as fair value hedges. The net positive fair value of these swaps was               

AED 104,428 thousand (2017: net positive fair value of AED 34,263 thousand). The hedge 

ineffectiveness gains and losses relating to these hedges were included in the consolidated statement of 

profit or loss. 

 

Details of equity instruments purchased and sold during the year are as follows: 

 

 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 

   

Purchases 69,698 23,399 

Sales 56,511 24,701 

 
The table below shows the rating wise analysis of investments: 

 

 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 

Investments:   

AAA to AA - 8,574,220 7,779,504 

A+ to A - 3,726,617 5,247,119 

BBB+ to BBB - 2,690,512 3,076,219 

BB+ to BB - 68,108 - 

B+ and below 2,804,599 2,975,723 

Unrated 1,410,708 1,988,044 

 ------------------ ------------------ 

 19,274,764 21,066,609 

                                           

 

The Group enters into agreements to sell assets with a simultaneous commitment to repurchase them at a 

specified future date (repos) whereby the Group retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of 

ownership of the assets and accordingly, the assets are not derecognised. The Group has entered into 

repurchase agreements relating to FVTOCI securities with a fair value amounting to AED 1,820,899 

thousand (31 December 2017: AED 272,191 thousand) and FVTPL securities with a fair value amounting 

to AED 12,860 thousand (31 December 2017: Nil). The related liability amounting to AED 1,745,271 

thousand  (31 December 2017: AED 274,525 thousand) is included in due to banks. 
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16 Investment properties 

 

Investment properties are stated at fair value, which has been determined based on the valuation 

performed by independent professional valuers. The valuation methodologies considered by external 

valuers were as follows: 

 

Development properties: 

 

The fair values of development properties are based on residual value method which requires the use of 

estimates such as future cash flows from assets (comprising of selling and leasing rates, future revenue 

streams, construction costs and associated professional fees, and financing cost, etc.), targeted internal 

rate of return and developer’s risk and targeted profit. These estimates are based on local market 

conditions existing at the end of the reporting period. 

 

Apartments / Buildings: 

 

The fair values of completed buildings are based on Comparable Method of valuation. The Comparable 

Method utilizes the evidence of transactions or current asking prices of similar sites in the immediate 

vicinity and, if appropriate, applies adjustments to the sales figures based on market research, discussion 

with independent agents. 

 

The below table shows the hierarchy used by the Group for the assets that are measured at fair value or 

for which fair value information is disclosed as at: 

 

 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 

Assets   

Investment properties 1,869,825 2,040,269 

 ------------------ ------------------ 

 1,869,825 2,040,269 

                                               

 

The below table shows the movement in investment properties: 

 

 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 

   

At 1 January 2,040,269 2,029,018 

Additions 83,344 38,439 

Transfer to other assets (21,956) - 

Net loss on investment properties (231,832) (27,188) 

 ----------------- ----------------- 

At 31 December 1,869,825 2,040,269 
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16 Investment properties (continued) 

 

Apartments / Buildings: (continued) 

 

Details of rental income and direct operating expenses relating to investment properties are as follow: 

 

 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 

   

Rental income 61,734 56,832 

Operating expenses 19,754 19,229 

   

The table below shows relevant information on the valuation of investment properties categorised under 

level 3: 

 
 

Property 

Valuation 

technique Significant unobservable inputs 

 

Sensitivity 
    
Development 

properties 

Residual value 

method 

Future cash flows from assets 

(comprising of selling and leasing rates, 

future revenue streams, construction costs 

and associated professional fees, and 

financing cost, etc.), targeted internal rate 

of return and developer’s risk and 

targeted profit.  

 

A slight increase/decrease in 

future cash flows would result to 

a significant increase/decrease in 

value. 

Apartments/ 

  Buildings 

Comparable 

method 

Transactions or current asking prices of 

similar sites in the immediate vicinity 

and, if appropriate, applies adjustments to 

the sales figures based on market 

research, discussion with independent 

agents. 

 

Value for apartments and retail units 

adopted after appropriate adjustments 

ranged from AED 650 to AED 1,250 

(2017: ranged from AED 700 to AED 

1,450) per square foot and AED 900 to 

AED 1,050 (2017: ranged from AED 

1,675 to AED 3,100) per square foot, 

respectively. 

A slight increase/decrease in unit 

value used would result in a 

significant increase/decrease in 

value. 
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17 Other assets 

 

 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 

   

Acceptances 764,543 712,585 

Interest receivable 634,136 499,087 

Positive fair value of derivatives (Note 31) 325,824 203,820 

Investment in associates 103,033 107,069 

Profit receivable on Islamic financing 47,415 38,701 

Collaterals pending sale 26,698 10,119 

VESS - 188,140 

Others 132,691 192,018 

 ----------------- ----------------- 

At 31 December 2,034,340 1,951,539 
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18 Property and equipment 

 
   Furniture,      

 Capital Freehold equipment      

 work in land and and motor Office Computer Computer   

 progress buildings vehicles improvements hardware software Total Total 

 2018 2018 2018 2018 2018 2018 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

         

Cost:         

At 1 January 57,163 220,576 109,323 205,395 175,800 233,257 1,001,514 917,028 

Additions 61,819 48 7,609 14,184 7,436 3,317 94,413 84,943 

Transfers/adjustments (35,136) - 2,746 8,515 9,086 14,789 - - 

Translation adjustment (71) (514) (1,320) (401) (185) (137) (2,628) 10,172 

Write off/disposals (398) - (4,351) (34) (15,486) (5,318) (25,587) (10,629) 

 ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- 

 83,377 220,110 114,007 227,659 176,651 245,908 1,067,712 1,001,514 

 ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- 

         

Accumulated depreciation:         

At 1 January - 147,066 77,115 169,386 135,673 173,412 702,652 636,327 

Charge for the year - 3,736 9,456 16,080 16,532 27,843 73,647 72,870 

Transfers/adjustments - - (33) 31 2 - - - 

Translation adjustment - (75) (745) (222) (83) (61) (1,186) 3,514 

Write off/disposals - - (4,025) (33) (15,486) (3,923) (23,467) (10,059) 

 ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- 

At 31 December - 150,727 81,768 185,242 136,638 197,271 751,646 702,652 

 ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- 

 83,377 69,383 32,239 42,417 40,013 48,637 316,066 298,862 

                                                                                                                                 

         

The Bank’s head office building (cost: AED 67 million) is constructed on land granted to the Bank by the Government of Abu Dhabi, which is recorded at nil value.
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19 Goodwill 
 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 

   

Cost   

At 1 January 81,418 75,465 

Translation adjustment (623) 5,953 

 ---------------- ---------------- 

At 31 December 80,795 81,418 

                                 

   

In 2006, the Group acquired control of UNB-E, which became a subsidiary of the Group and has since 

been consolidated. The acquisition has been initially accounted for using the purchase method of 

accounting, as required by IFRS 3: Business Combinations based on the fair value of assets and liabilities. 

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Bank’s share of identifiable assets, 

liabilities and contingent liabilities of UNB-E at the date of acquisition has been accounted as Goodwill. 

Goodwill is attributable to the significant synergies expected to arise from the development of UNB-E 

within UNB Group. 

 

Goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses if any, which are charged to profit or 

loss. An impairment test for goodwill is carried out annually or more frequently if events or changes in 

the circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. 

 

In line with the requirements of IAS 36: Impairment of Assets, the management carried out an annual 

impairment test for goodwill in 2018. The methodology being carried out to test impairment of goodwill 

is in accordance with the IAS 36. The recoverable amount has been computed as the higher of a cash 

generating unit (or group of cash generating units) fair value less costs of disposal (FVLCD) and its value 

in use. The value in use is being measured by discounting the future cash flows expected based on actual 

operating results by applying an appropriate discount rate, whereas the FVLCD has been computed by 

applying adjusted market multiples based on comparable banks and recent comparable transactions. For 

the purposes of internal management reports, UNB – E operations are considered as one cash generating 

unit. 

 

The main assumptions for the value in use computation are the cash flow estimates, growth rates and the 

discount rates. The management carried out an impairment test for goodwill in 2018 based on the 

assumptions that business of UNB-E will grow in line with the strategic plan forecast for five years. The 

long term growth assumptions are in line with the published industry research. The terminal growth rate 

of 2% (2017: 2%) has been assumed which is in line with the long term growth rate. 

 

The recoverable amount of goodwill has been calculated based on the value in use. Value in use was 

determined by discounting the future cash flows expected to be generated. A discount rate of 20% p.a. 

(2017: 20% p.a.) was used for discounting the cash flows. Discount rates reflect the current market 

assessment of the risk. 

 

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions was carried out assuming the growth rate lower by 1% and also 

assuming the discount rate higher by 1% and based on the results, management believes that no 

reasonably possible change in any of the above key assumptions would cause the carrying value of the 

unit to exceed their recoverable amount. 
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20 Customers’ deposits 

 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 
   
Time deposits 54,654,497 57,027,858 

Current and call deposits 12,127,055 13,687,096 

Islamic deposits 8,029,138 5,706,775 

Saving accounts 1,603,260 1,583,331 

Sundry deposits 1,025,679 684,280 

 ------------------ ------------------ 

 77,439,629 78,689,340 

                                       

 

Analysis of customers’ deposits by sector is as follows: 

 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 
   
Corporate 29,180,411 29,021,442 

Sovereign 24,009,811 26,538,471 

Public Sector 14,746,122 13,902,860 

Retail 9,503,285 9,226,567 

 ------------------ ------------------ 

 77,439,629 78,689,340 

                                       

   

 

21 Due to banks 

 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 
   
Overnight and short term placements 1,880,092 349,119 

Deposits 1,372,502 281,381 

Demand 147,778 86,546 

 ------------------ ------------------ 

 3,400,372 717,046 

                                     

   

 

22 Medium term borrowings 

 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 
   
Euro medium term notes 5,115,605 3,742,042 

Term loan - 2,749,183 

 ------------------ ------------------ 

 5,115,605 6,491,225 
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22 Medium term borrowings 

 

The table below shows the currency and interest rate details of the medium term borrowings: 
 

    2018 2017 

 Maturity Fixed/Floating  Interest rate AED’000 AED’000 

Euro medium term notes      

CHF March 2018 Floating 3 month CHF 

Libor + 0.98% 

margin 

- 376,969 

JPY November 2018 Fixed 1% - 81,487 

USD October 2021 Fixed 2.75% 2,195,510 2,192,329 

USD February 2022 Floating 3 month USD 

Libor + 1.40% 

margin 

1,093,600 1,091,257 

USD March 2023 Fixed 4% 1,826,495 - 

      

Term loan      

USD October 2018 Floating 3 month USD 

Libor + 0.75% 

margin 

- 2,749,183 

    ----------------- ----------------- 

    5,115,605 6,491,225 

                                        

      

Term loan agreement contained covenants related to minimum capital adequacy ratio requirements in line 

with Basel II framework as implemented by the Central Bank of the UAE.  
 

The Group had hedged certain portion of term loan bearing floating interest rate risks using interest rate 

swaps and has designated these swaps as cash flow hedges. The net positive fair value of these swaps was 

AED Nil (2017: net positive fair value of AED 16,253 thousand). 
 

23 Other liabilities 

 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 
   
Acceptances 764,543 712,585 

Interest payable 544,116 458,108 

Negative fair value of derivatives (Note 31) 146,764 147,252 

Gratuity payable 145,285 133,072 

Expenses payable 79,450 40,666 

Staff related provisions 75,651 84,783 

Profit payable on Islamic deposits 65,704 62,205 

Payment orders issued 58,567 81,688 

Provision for contingent liabilities [Note 28(b)] 37,406 10,818 

Deferred income 28,805 33,686 

VESS - 188,140 

Others 131,030 200,991 

 ----------------- ----------------- 

 2,077,321 2,153,994 
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23 Other liabilities (continued) 
 

The Group provides gratuity benefits to its eligible employees in the UAE. The most recent actuarial 

valuations of the present value of the defined benefit obligation were carried out at 31 December 2018 by 

a registered actuary in the UAE. The present value of the defined benefit obligation, and the related 

current and past service cost, were measured using the Projected Unit Credit Method. 
 

The following key assumptions were used to value the liabilities: 

 

 2018 2017 

Discount rate 3.50% - 4.25% per annum 2.75% - 3.75% per annum 

Salary increase rate 5.0% per annum 5.0% per annum 

 

Movements in gratuity payable during the year were as follows: 

 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 
   
At 1 January 133,072 116,429 

Items recognised in profit or loss:   

- Service cost   14,365 13,314 

- Interest cost 4,895 4,224 

Items recognised in Other comprehensive income:   

- Loss on account of change in assumptions 2,511 5,922 

Benefits paid (9,558) (6,817) 

 ----------------- ----------------- 

At 31 December 145,285 133,072 

                                     

   
 

The table below shows the sensitivity of defined benefit obligation payable to changes in key 

assumptions: 

 2018 2017 

 +50 bps -50 bps +50 bps -50bps 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

     

Sensitivity to discount rate (4,513) 4,791 (4,199) 4,466 

Sensitivity to salary increase rate 4,771 (4,539) 4,435 (4,212) 
 

 

24 Share capital 
 

The authorised share capital of the Bank is 5,000,000 thousand shares of AED 1 each (2017: 5,000,000 

thousand shares of AED 1 each). The issued and paid up share capital of the Bank is 2,751,426 

thousand shares of AED 1 each (2017: 2,751,426 thousand shares of AED 1 each). 
 

Cash dividend of AED 0.20 per share amounting to AED 550,285 thousand (2017: Cash dividend of 

AED 0.20 per share amounting to AED 550,285 thousand) was paid after the shareholder’s approval in 

the Annual General Meeting held on 11 March 2018 (2017: Annual General Meeting held on 8 March 

2017). 
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24 Share capital (continued) 

 

The Board of Directors in their meeting held on 12 February 2019 proposed a cash dividend of AED 

0.20 per share amounting to AED 550,285 thousand, subject to the approval of the shareholders in the 

Annual General Meeting. 

 

 

25 Legal and statutory reserves 

 

Legal reserve: In accordance with Article 82 of the Union Law No. 10 of 1980, 10% of annual net profit 

is transferred to a legal reserve until this reserve equals 50% of the paid up share capital. The reserve is 

not available for distribution.  

 

Statutory reserve: As required by Article 239 of the U.A.E. Federal Law No. (2) of 2015, 10% of annual 

net profit is transferred to the statutory reserve until this reserve equals 50% of the paid up share capital. 

The reserve is not available for distribution.  

 

During the year, the Bank has transferred AED 6,281 thousand (2017: AED 22,816 thousand) to legal 

and statutory reserves. The transfer in the current year is in respect of subsidiaries. 

 

 

26 Tier I capital notes 

 

In February 2009, the Bank issued Tier I capital notes to the Department of Finance, Government of Abu 

Dhabi, with a principal amount of AED 2 billion (the "Capital Notes"). Issuance of these capital notes 

was approved by the Bank’s Board of Directors in February 2009. These capital notes bear floating 

interest rate of 6 months EIBOR plus 2.3% p.a. 

 

The Capital Notes are non-voting, non-cumulative perpetual securities, and are callable subject to certain 

conditions. The Bank may, at its sole discretion, elect not to make an interest payment. During the year, 

interest amounting to AED 86,672 thousand was paid (2017: AED 78,022 thousand) and shown in the 

consolidated statement of changes in equity. 

 

 

27 Non-controlling interests 

 

The table below shows the details of share of non-controlling interest: 

 

 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 

   

Non-controlling interests share in (loss) / profit for the year (5,093) 12,435 

Non-controlling interests share in other comprehensive  

   (loss)/income for the year (5,235)  13,838 

Accumulated non-controlling interests 149,321 170,392 

Non-controlling interests share in cash flows for the year 23,403 (82,885) 

 

During the year, dividend of AED 6,370 thousand (2017: AED 6,370 thousand) was paid to non-

controlling interests. 
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27 Non-controlling interests (continued) 

 

The table below shows the summarised financial information of the subsidiaries which have non-

controlling interest: 

 

 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 

   

Total Assets 11,279,297  10,562,170 

Total Liabilities 9,563,791 8,666,173 

Total Equity 1,715,507  1,895,997 

Profit for the year 10,408  156,401 

 

28 Commitments and contingencies 

 

(a) Loans and advances commitments 

 

At any time the Group has outstanding commitments to extend credit. These commitments take the form 

of approved credit facilities. 

 

 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 

   

Loans and advances commitments – revocable 10,115,048 11,936,820 

Loans and advances commitments – irrevocable 3,780,840 2,471,487 

 ----------------- ----------------- 

 13,895,888 14,408,307 

                                     

   

Irrevocable commitments to extend credit represent contractual commitments to make loans and 

advances. Revocable commitments to extend credit represent commitments to make loan and advances 

which can be cancelled by the Bank unconditionally without any contractual obligations. Commitments 

generally have fixed expiry dates or other termination clauses. Outstanding loans and advances 

commitments have commitment periods that do not usually extend beyond a period of one year. 
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28 Commitments and contingencies (continued) 

 

(b) Contingencies 

 

The Group provides letters of credit and letters of guarantee to guarantee the performance of customers 

to third parties. The Group commits to make payments on behalf of customers contingent upon the 

production of documents or the failure of the customer to perform under the terms of the specified 

contract. 

 

The contractual amounts of contingent liabilities are set out in the following table by category. The 

amounts reflected in the table for guarantees and letters of credit represent the maximum accounting loss 

that would be recognised at the reporting date if counterparties failed completely to perform as 

contracted. 

 

 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 

   

Letters of credit 2,555,226 2,142,403 

Letters of guarantee 27,077,818 29,106,444 

 ----------------- ----------------- 

 29,633,044 31,248,847 

                                     

  

The Group has recognised impairment allowance of AED 37,406 thousand (2017: AED 10,818 

thousand) on letters of guarantee which has been included in other liabilities. 

 

The movement in impairment allowance for contingencies is as follows: 

 

 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 

   

At 1 January 10,818 22,406 

Effect of change in accounting policy for IFRS 9 54,205 - 

 ----------------- ----------------- 

At 1 January (restated as per IFRS 9) 65,023 22,406 

Release for the year (net of charges) (27,607) (11,908) 

Foreign currency translation (10) 320 

 ----------------- ----------------- 

At 31 December 37,406 10,818 

                                   

   

Commitments and contingent liabilities, which have been entered into on behalf of customers and for 

which there are corresponding obligations from customers, are not included in assets and liabilities. The 

Bank's maximum exposure to credit loss, in the event of non‐ performance by the other party and where 

all counterclaims, collateral or security proves valueless, is represented by the contractual nominal 

amount of these instruments included in the table above. The related fees and provisions for probable 

losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position until the commitments are 

fulfilled or expire. Many of the contingent liabilities and commitments will expire without being 

advanced in whole or in part. Therefore, the amounts do not represent expected future cash flows. 
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28 Commitments and contingencies (continued) 

 

(b) Contingencies (continued) 

 

The table below shows the contractual maturities of contingencies which have been determined on the 

basis of the remaining period to maturity as at the reporting date. It does not take account of the effective 

maturities as indicated by the early call of the contingencies. 

 

The maturity profile of contingencies at 31 December 2018: 

 
 Up to From three From one From three   

 three months to year to years to Over  

 months one year three years five years five years Total 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

ASSETS       

Letters of credit 1,848,433 622,138 84,655 - - 2,555,226 

Letters of guarantee 6,000,547 18,424,630 2,336,672 132,644 183,325 27,077,818 

 ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- 
Total 7,848,980 19,046,768 2,421,327 132,644 183,325 29,633,044 

                                                                                                             
       

The maturity profile of contingencies at 31 December 2017: 

 
 Up to From three From one From three   

 three months to year to years to Over  

 months one year three years five years five years Total 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

ASSETS       

Letters of credit 1,127,775 929,352 85,276 - - 2,142,403 

Letters of guarantee 5,282,100 19,115,026 4,065,249 384,046 260,023 29,106,444 

 ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- 
Total 6,409,875 20,044,378 4,150,525 384,046 260,023 31,248,847 

                                                                                                             
       

(c) Operating lease commitments 

 

Where the Group is a lessee, the future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases 

are as follows: 

 

 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 

   

Not later than one year 25,331 17,798 

Later than one year and not later than three years 23,562 20,191 

Later than three years and not later than five years 2,232 - 

 ----------------- ----------------- 

 51,125 37,989 
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28 Commitments and contingencies (continued) 

 

(d) Other commitments 

 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 

   

Capital expenditure commitments 69,789 55,692 

Investment properties commitments 135,994 219,338 

 ----------------- ----------------- 

 205,783 275,030 

                                     

   

  

29 Taxation 

 

The Group is not liable to any income tax in the UAE as there is no income tax in the UAE for locally 

incorporated entities. The Group is liable to the income tax in respect of its subsidiary operating in the 

Arab Republic of Egypt and the branch in the Qatar Financial Centre, the State of Qatar. 

 

 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 

Consolidated statement of financial position:   

Deferred tax asset 198 197 

Deferred tax liability 1,508 52 

                                     

Consolidated statement of profit or loss:   

Tax expense   

Current year 58,923 44,569 

Prior years (966) 515 

 ----------------- ----------------- 

 57,957 45,084 

                                     

 

UNB – E 

As at 31 December 2018, UNB-E is subject to tax of 22.5% (2017: 22.5%) on taxable income in the 

Arab Republic of Egypt. For the purpose of determining the tax expense for the year, the accounting 

profit has been adjusted for tax purposes. Adjustments for tax purposes include items relating to both 

income and expense. After giving effect to these adjustments, the average effective tax rate is estimated 

to be at 51.50% (2017: 39.43%). 
 

The tax assessment up to 2008 has been finalised with the tax authorities. The tax assessments in respect 

of the financial years ended 31 December 2009 to 31 December 2017 is yet to be completed by the tax 

authorities. 
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29 Taxation (continued) 

 

UNB – Qatar 

The Branch in the State of Qatar is subject to tax at 10% on taxable income. For the purpose of 

determining the tax expenses for the year, the accounting profit has been adjusted for items relating to 

both income and expenses. The average effective tax rate is Nil (2017: Nil) due to losses incurred during 

the year. 
 

UNB – China 

The Branch in People’s Republic of China is subject to tax at 25% on taxable income. For the purpose of 

determining the tax expenses for the year, the accounting profit has been adjusted for items relating to 

both income and expenses. The average effective tax rate is Nil (2017: Nil) due to losses incurred during 

the year.  

 

The Group is responsible for any tax liability that may arise from the outstanding assessments of its 

subsidiary and Branches. 
 

The tax reconciliation for the year ended 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017 is as follows: 

 

 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 
   
Accounting Profit before taxation as reported by subsidiary/branch 101,683 127,321 

IFRS adjustments to profit reported by subsidiary/branch (2,351) (9,401) 

 ----------------- ----------------- 

Total accounting profit 99,332 117,920 

Tax calculated on above accounting profit before taxation as reported by  

   subsidiary/branch 25,746 27,726 

   

Tax adjustments:   

- Expenses not deductible for tax purpose 1,070 3,412 

- Income not subject to tax (1,351) (1,810) 

- Additional tax on Treasury bills and government bonds 32,000 13,366 

- Timing difference on account of depreciation and provisions 1,458 1,875 

- Adjustment pertaining to prior years (966) 515 

 ----------------- ----------------- 

 57,957 45,084 
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30 Cash and cash equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents included in the consolidated statement of cash flows comprise the following 

consolidated statement of financial position amounts: 

 
 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 
   
Cash and balances with central banks 6,885,702 9,196,456 

Treasury bills 2,034,993 2,086,318 

Due from banks 4,196,512 1,745,646 

Due to banks (3,400,372) (717,046) 

 ----------------- ----------------- 
 9,716,835 12,311,374 

Less: Original maturities of more than 3 months   

Cash and balances with central banks 2,451,557 3,232,430 

Treasury bills 1,378,002 2,085,683 

Due from banks 192,406 641,657 

Due to banks (161,116) (6,940) 

 ----------------- ----------------- 
 5,855,986 6,358,544 

                                     

 

 

31 Derivatives 

 

In the ordinary course of business the Group enters into various types of transactions that involve 

derivative financial instruments. A derivative financial instrument is a financial contract between two 

parties where payments are dependent upon movements in price in one or more underlying financial 

instrument, reference rate or index. The Group uses the following derivative financial instruments: 

 

Forwards are contractual agreements to either buy or sell a specified currency, commodity or financial 

instrument at a specific price and date in the future. Forwards are customised contracts transacted in over-

the-counter market. 

 

Swaps are contractual agreements between two parties to exchange interest or foreign currency 

differentials based on a specific notional amount. For interest rate swaps, counterparties generally 

exchange fixed and floating rate interest payments based on a notional value in a single currency. 
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31 Derivatives (continued) 

 

The table below shows the contractual value of forward foreign exchange contracts, notional amount of 

currency swaps and interest rate swaps and fair value of derivative financial instruments as at 31 

December 2018 and 31 December 2017. 

 
 Contractual/    

 notional Positive Negative Net fair 

 amount fair value fair value value 

31 December 2018 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 
     
Derivatives held for trading:     

Forward foreign exchange contracts 11,264,393 14,210 (3,215) 10,995 

Interest rate swaps 6,282,587 102,276 (54,134) 48,142 

Cross currency swaps 239,460 15,943 (3,577) 12,366 

FX time options 21,525 90 (57) 33 

Commodities – Forwards 358,828 17,054 (16,831) 223 

 ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- 

 18,166,793 149,573 (77,814) 71,759 
     
Derivatives held as fair value hedge:     

Interest rate swaps 11,773,591 176,251 (68,950) 107,301 

Derivatives held as cash flow hedge:     

Interest rate swaps - - - - 

 ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ 

 29,940,384 325,824 (146,764) 179,060 

                                                                         

31 December 2017     
     
Derivatives held for trading:     

Forward foreign exchange contracts 10,814,028 25,816 (20,590) 5,226 

Interest rate swaps 4,868,355 55,840 (24,518) 31,322 

Cross currency swaps 775,767 8,550 (38,748) (30,198) 

FX time options 21,462 - (1,067) (1,067) 

Commodities - Forwards - - - - 

 ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- ----------------- 

 16,479,612 90,206 (84,923) 5,283 
     
Derivatives held as fair value hedge:     

Interest rate swaps 7,940,054 97,361 (62,329) 35,032 

Derivatives held as cash flow hedge:     

Interest rate swaps 2,387,450 16,253 - 16,253 

 ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ 

 26,807,116 203,820 (147,252) 56,568 

                                                                         

 
The notional amount is the amount of a derivative’s underlying asset or liability, reference rate and is the 

basis upon which changes in the value of derivatives are measured. The notional amounts indicate the 

volume of transactions outstanding at the year end and are neither indicative of the market risk nor the 

credit risk. 
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31 Derivatives (continued) 

 

The table below shows the remaining period to maturity of derivative financial instruments as at                         

31 December 2018: 

 
 Contractual / notional amounts 

 Up to 3 3 months 1-3 3-5 Over 5  

 months -1 year years years years Total 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

Derivatives held for trading:       

Forward foreign exchange contracts 3,357,487 7,814,331 92,575 - - 11,264,393 

Interest rate swaps - - 663,764 2,037,321 3,581,502 6,282,587 

Cross currency swaps 75,512 89,476 - 74,472 - 239,460 

FX time options 9,009 3,368 9,148 - - 21,525 

Commodities – Forwards 13,838 344,990 - - - 358,828 

 ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ 

 3,455,846 8,252,165 765,487 2,111,793 3,581,502 18,166,793 

Derivatives held as fair value hedge:       

   Interest rate swaps 843,266 2,130,013 3,289,660 2,544,122 2,966,530 11,773,591 

Derivatives held as cash flow hedge:       

   Interest rate swaps - - - - - - 

 ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ 

Total 4,299,112 10,382,178 4,055,147 4,655,915 6,548,032 29,940,384 

                                                                                                   

       

The table below shows the remaining period to maturity of derivative financial instruments as at                             

31 December 2017: 

 
 Contractual / notional amounts 

 Up to 3 3 months 1-3 3-5 Over 5  

 months -1 year years years years Total 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

Derivatives held for trading:       

   Forward foreign exchange contracts 5,590,274 4,860,981 362,773 - - 10,814,028 

   Interest rate swaps - 68,869 367,300 558,423 3,873,763 4,868,355 

   Cross currency swaps 391,836 144,471 164,988 74,472 - 775,767 

   FX time options 7,072 554 13,836 - - 21,462 

   Commodities - Forwards - - - - - - 

 ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ 

 5,989,182 5,074,875 908,897 632,895 3,873,763 16,479,612 

Derivatives held as fair value hedge:       

   Interest rate swaps 161,612 268,129 2,704,438 2,352,391 2,453,484 7,940,054 

Derivatives held as cash flow hedge:       

   Interest rate swaps - 2,387,450 - - - 2,387,450 

 ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ 

Total 6,150,794 7,730,454 3,613,335 2,985,286 6,327,247 26,807,116 
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31 Derivatives (continued) 

 

Derivatives held as fair value hedge  

 

The Group uses derivative financial instruments for hedging purposes as part of its asset and liability 

management strategy by taking offsetting positions in order to reduce its own exposure to fluctuations in 

exchange and interest rates. The Group uses interest rate swaps, to hedge against the changes in fair value 

arising from specifically identified interest bearing investments and loans and advances measured at 

amortised cost. The net hedge ineffectiveness loss recognised in the consolidated profit or loss amounted 

to AED 29,167 thousand (2017: gain of AED 10,045 thousand). 

 

Derivatives held as cash flow hedge  

 

The Group uses interest rate swaps to hedge against the cash flow risk arising on floating rate term 

borrowing. The Group has substantially matched the critical terms of the derivatives to have an effective 

hedge relationship. 

 

 

32 Related party transactions 

 

A party is related to the Group if: 

 

i. directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, is controlled by, or is under common 

control with, the Group (this includes parents, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries); has an interest in 

the Group that gives it significant influence over the Group; or has joint control over the Group; 

ii. the party is an associate of the Group; 

iii. the party is a joint venture in which the Group is a venturer; 

iv. the party is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or its parent; 

v. the party is a close member of the family of any individual referred to in (i) or (iv); 

vi. the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by, or for which 

significant voting power in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual referred to in 

(iv) or (v); or 

vii. the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of the Group, or of any entity 

that is a related party of the Group. 

 

In the case of the Group, related parties, as defined in International Accounting Standard No. 24: Related 

Party Disclosures, include the Government of Abu Dhabi (Ultimate controlling party and its related 

entities), directors and their related entities and key management of the Group and their related entities. 

Banking transactions are entered into with related parties on terms and conditions approved by either the 

Group’s management and/or Directors. The Group engages in transactions with related parties only on 

arm’s length terms and in accordance with relevant laws and regulations. 

 

Directors are expected to avoid any action, position or interest that conflict with an interest of the Group. 

Details of all transactions in which a Director and/or related parties might have actual or potential 

conflicts are provided to the Board of Directors for their review and approval.  When a potential conflict 

of interest arises, Directors concerned neither participates in the discussions nor exercise any influence 

over other members of the Board. If a major shareholder or a Director has any conflict of interests with 

any matter to be considered by the Board of Director and the Board of Directors determines that such a 

matter is significant, the decision thereon by the Board of Directors shall be made in the presence of all 

Directors and in the absence of the interested Director’s vote. 
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32 Related party transactions (continued) 

 

The significant balances included in the consolidated financial statements are as follows: 

 
 Major 

shareholders, 

   

 Directors and Key   

 their related entities management Associates Total 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

31 December 2018     

Due from banks 17,583 - - 17,583 

Loans and advances measured at 

amortised cost 
 

7,910,093 

 

1,971 

 

- 
 

7,912,064 

Investments 7,480,306 - 106,100 7,586,406 

Other assets 269,096 5 - 269,101 

Customers’ deposits 25,787,889 3,496 105,693 25,897,078 

Due to Banks 177,753 - - 177,753 

Other liabilities 290,442 7 91 290,540 

Tier 1 capital notes 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 

Commitments and contingencies 2,957,856 - - 2,957,856 

Derivatives (contractual/notional  

   amounts) 
 

12,302,387 

 

- 

 

- 
 

12,302,387 

Post-retirement benefits payable - 6,584 - 6,584 

 
31 December 2017     

Due from banks 375,993 - - 375,993 

Loans and advances measured at 

amortised cost 

 

9,767,923 

 

6,595 

 

- 

 

9,774,518 

Investments 7,036,326 - 110,136 7,146,462 

Other assets 168,945 14 - 168,959 

Customers’ deposits 30,982,907 556 199,007 31,182,470 

Due to Banks 807,140 - - 807,140 

Other liabilities 241,356 1 139 241,496 

Tier 1 capital notes 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 

Commitments and contingencies 3,087,440 - - 3,087,440 

Derivatives (contractual/notional  

   amounts) 

 

10,259,591 

 

- 

 

- 

 

10,259,591 

Post-retirement benefits payable - 12,456 - 12,456 
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32 Related party transactions (continued) 

 

The significant transactions with related parties included in these consolidated financial statements are as 

follows: 

 
 Major shareholders,    

 Directors and 

their related entities 

Key 

management 

 

Associate 

 

Total 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

For the year ended 31 December 2018     

Interest income 535,509 65 - 535,574 

Profit income 962 - - 962 

Interest expense 542,116 88  542,204 

Profit expense 15,037 - 6,240 21,277 

Net fee and commission income 25,591 - - 25,591 

Net gain from dealing in  

   foreign currencies and derivatives  
 

90,116 

 

- 

 

- 

 

90,116 

Other operating expenses - - 1,045 1,045 

Share in (loss) / profit of associates - - (3,944) (3,944) 

Interest on Tier 1 capital notes 86,672 - - 86,672 

Directors’ remuneration 7,780 - - 7,780 

Salary and benefits - 35,236 - 35,236 

Post-retirement benefits - 1,779 - 1,779 

     

For the year ended 31 December 2017     

Interest income 461,003 181 - 461,184 

Profit income 1,428 - - 1,428 

Interest expense 562,619 11 - 562,630 

Profit expense 24,130 - 3,633 27,763 

Net fee and commission income 30,092 9 - 30,101 

Net gain from dealing in  

   foreign currencies and derivatives  

 

41,867 

 

- 

 

- 

 

41,867 

Share in (loss) / profit of associates - - 1,728 1,728 

Interest on Tier 1 capital notes 78,022 - - 78,022 

Directors’ remuneration 7,546 - - 7,546 

Salary and benefits - 34,340 - 34,340 

Post-retirement benefits - 1,802 - 1,802 

 

Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss during the year does not include any impairment charge for 

loans and advances extended to related parties (2017: Nil). At 31 December 2018, there are no impaired 

loans and advances from the related parties (2017: Nil). 

 

Interest rates on loans and advances to related parties during the year ended 31 December 2018 ranged 

from 1.4% to 16% per annum (2017: 1.3 % to 16.5% per annum). Interest rates on deposits from related 

parties during the year ended 31 December 2018 ranged from 0% to 6.0% per annum (2017: 0% to 3.25% 

per annum). 

 

Fees and commissions rates on transactions with related parties during the year ended 31 December 2018 

ranged from 0% to 3.0% per annum (2017: 0% to 3% per annum). 
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33 Operating segments 

 

The Group is organised into following major operating segments: 

 

Corporate Banking offers a wide range of services and products to diverse enterprises and industrial 

sectors, both in the public and private sectors. 

 

Consumer Banking provides products and services to the Retail, High net worth individuals and SME 

customers through its focused approach that realises the banking needs and requirements of the customers 

and includes equity brokerage services, asset management and merchant banking.  

 

Islamic Banking comprises of Islamic Banking Group (ISBG) of the Bank and AWFC. ISBG and 

AWFC provide Sharia compliant Islamic finance and investment products. 

 

Treasury and Investment Banking comprises of Financial Institutions, Syndications and Structured 

Finance and Treasury and Investments. Financial Institutions undertakes the correspondent banking 

business of the Bank and maintains assets of financial institutions. Syndications and Structured Finance 

provides structured funding solutions on syndicated and project finance transactions and houses the 

bank’s international syndicated assets. 

 

Treasury and Investments provides support to other businesses for funding and foreign exchange and at 

the same time manages the proprietary positions/trading and liquidity management. 

 

International and unallocated includes UNB-E, overseas branches in Kuwait, Qatar and China and 

certain unallocated items held centrally in the Head Office as these are not significantly material. 

 

Inter segmental transactions are conducted at rates agreed by management and / or directors. Interest is 

charged or credited to units and business segments either at contracted or pool rates, both of which 

approximate the replacement cost of funds. 
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33 Operating segments (continued) 

 

The following table presents segmental income, expenses, profit and capital expenditure for the year 

ended 31 December 2018: 

 
 

 

 

Corporate 

banking 

 

 

Consumer 

banking 

 

 

Islamic  

banking 

 

Treasury 

and 

Investment 

banking 

International 

and 

unallocated 

 

 

 

Total 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

       

Net interest income and income  

   from Islamic financing 904,982 952,067 168,927 351,595 420,683 2,798,254 

Other operating income 261,449 201,884 (132,860) 139,674 43,651 513,798 

 ------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- 

Operating income 1,166,431 1,153,951 36,067 491,269 464,334 3,312,052 

       

Other operating expenses (218,301) (638,948) (109,785) (78,416) (122,936) (1,168,386) 

Depreciation (13,177) (29,227) (3,888) (5,743) (21,612) (73,647) 

 ------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- 

Operating profit 934,953 485,776 (77,606) 407,110 319,786 2,070,019 

       

Impairment charge on              

financial assets, net (170,311)  (468,508)  (13,505) (8,837) (165,322) (826,483) 

Income tax expense - - - - (57,957) (57,957) 

 ------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ------------------- ----------------- 

Profit for the year 764,642 17,268 (91,111) 398,273 96,507 1,185,579 

 ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ======== 

       

Segment capital expenditure 2,425 7,896 5,771 140 51,498 67,730 

 ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= 

       

The table below presents segmental assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2018: 

 
  

 

Corporate 

banking 

 

 

Consumer 

banking 

 

 

Islamic  

banking 

Treasury 

and 

Investment 

banking 

 

International 

and 

unallocated 

 

 

 

Total 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

       

Reportable segment assets 40,138,516 18,792,199 10,995,453 27,164,194 9,898,847 106,989,209 

 ========== ========== ========= ========== ========== =========== 

       

Reportable segment liabilities 31,828,497 12,186,426 8,578,690 26,583,081 8,856,233 88,032,927 

 ========== ========== ========= ========== ========== =========== 
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33 Operating segments (continued) 

 

The following table presents segmental income, profit, expenses and capital expenditure for the year 

ended 31 December 2017: 

 
  

 

Corporate 

banking 

 

 

Consumer 

banking 

 

 

Islamic  

banking 

 

Treasury and 

Investment 

banking 

 

International 

and unallocated 

 

 

 

Total 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

       

Net interest income and income  

   from Islamic financing 875,647 1,006,499 188,647 186,197 389,777 2,646,767 

Other operating income 257,858 411,389 108,478 159,937 46,781 984,443 

 ------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- 

Operating income 1,133,505 1,417,888 297,125 346,134 436,558 3,631,210 

       

Other operating expenses (199,974) (582,798) (95,494) (71,860) (112,239) (1,062,365) 

Depreciation (14,230) (32,724) (3,041) (5,714) (17,161) (72,870) 

 ------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- 

Operating profit 919,301 802,366 198,590 268,560 307,158 2,495,975 

       

Impairment charge on              

financial assets, net (325,940) (422,135) (19,454) (3,010) (23,146) (793,685) 

Income tax expense - - - - (45,084) (45,084) 

 ------------------- -------------------- -------------------- -------------------- ------------------- ----------------- 

Profit for the year 593,361 380,231 179,136 265,550 238,928 1,657,206 

 ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ======== 

       

Segment capital expenditure 255 10,944 1,575 355 85,539 98,668 

 ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= 

       

The table below presents segmental assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2017: 

 
  

Corporate 

banking 

 

Consumer 

banking 

 

Islamic  

banking 

Treasury and 

Investment 

banking 

 

International  

and unallocated 

 

 

Total 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

       

Reportable segment assets 38,132,189 20,126,532 9,440,957 30,925,289 8,893,137 107,518,104 

 ========== ========== ========= ========== ========== =========== 

       

Reportable segment liabilities 32,629,433 12,456,875 6,627,201 28,734,262 7,603,834 88,051,605 

 ____   ____ ____   ____ ____   ____ ____   ____ ____   ____ ____   ____ 
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33 Operating segments (continued) 

 

The Bank operates in two principal geographic areas i.e. Domestic and International. The United Arab 

Emirates is designated as Domestic area which represents the operations of the Bank that originates from 

the U.A.E. branches and U.A.E. subsidiaries; and International area represents the operations of the Bank 

that originates from its branches in Qatar Financial Centre, Kuwait and China and its subsidiary in Egypt. 

The Bank’s operations and information about its segment assets and liabilities by geographical area are as 

follows: 

 
 2018  2017 

 Domestic International Total  Domestic International Total 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000  AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

        

Net interest income and  

   income from Islamic  

   financing 2,585,713 212,541 2,798,254 

 

2,449,488 197,279 2,646,767 

Other operating income 450,695 63,103 513,798  921,116 63,327 984,443 

 ------------------ ----------------- ------------------  ------------------ ----------------- ------------------ 

Operating income 3,036,408 275,644 3,312,052  3,370,604 260,606 3,631,210 

 ------------------ ----------------- ------------------  ------------------ ----------------- ------------------ 

        

Other operating expenses (1,049,313) (119,073) (1,168,386)  (944,794) (117,571) (1,062,365) 

Depreciation (55,352) (18,295) (73,647)  (59,776) (13,094) (72,870) 

 ------------------ ----------------- ------------------  ------------------ ----------------- ------------------ 

Operating profit 1,931,743 138,276 2,070,019  2,366,034 129,941 2,495,975 

        

Impairment charge on 

financial assets, net (661,161)  (165,322) (826,483) 

 

(770,539) (23,146) (793,685) 

Income tax expense - (57,957) (57,957)  - (45,084) (45,084) 

 ------------------ ----------------- ------------------  ------------------ ----------------- ------------------ 

Profit for the year 1,270,582 (85,003) 1,185,579  1,595,495 61,711 1,657,206 

 ======== ========= =========  ======== ========= ======== 

 

The Banks’s assets and liabilities by geographical area are as follows: 

 
 2018  2017 

 Domestic International Total  Domestic International Total 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000  AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

        

Assets 98,865,960 8,123,249 106,989,209  100,560,855 6,957,249 107,518,104 

 ========== ========= ===========  ========== ========= =========== 

        

Liabilities 80,590,600 7,442,327 88,032,927  81,827,541 6,224,064 88,051,605 

 ========== ========= ===========  ========== ========= =========== 
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33 Operating segments (continued) 

 

The following is the analysis of the total operating income of each segment between income from external 

parties and inter segment. 

 

 External   Inter-segment  

 2018 2017  2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000  AED’000 AED’000 
      

Corporate banking 1,367,682 1,299,206  (201,251) (165,701) 

Consumer banking 1,453,081 1,584,260  (299,130) (166,372) 

Islamic banking 50,045 301,578  (13,978) (4,453) 

Treasury and Investment banking 168,708 157,584  322,561 188,550 

International and unallocated 272,536 288,582  191,798 147,976 

 -------------------- --------------------  -------------------- -------------------- 
Total 3,312,052 3,631,210  - - 

 ========== ==========  ========== ========== 
 

 

34 Basic and diluted earnings per share 

 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to equity holders 

of the Bank by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year as set out below: 

 

 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 

   

Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Bank 1,190,672  1,644,771 

Less: Interest on Tier I capital notes (86,672) (78,022) 

 ------------------ ------------------ 

Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Bank after 

interest on Tier I capital notes 1,104,000 1,566,749 

 ------------------ ------------------ 

Shares as at 1 January (Thousand) 2,751,426 2,751,426 

Effect of bonus shares issued (Thousand) - - 

 ------------------ ------------------ 

Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year 

(Thousand) 2,751,426 2,751,426 

 ------------------ ------------------ 
Basic and diluted earnings per share (AED) 0.40 0.57 
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35 Capital management 

 

Capital measurement and allocation  

 

Central Bank of the UAE is the supervisor of the Bank and, in this capacity, receives information on 

capital adequacy and sets minimum capital requirements. Overseas branches and overseas banking 

subsidiary are directly regulated by their respective regulators, which sets and monitor their capital 

adequacy requirements. 

 

As per Notice No. 60/2017 dated 2 March 2017 issued by the Central Bank of the UAE, banks operating 

in the UAE are required to calculate their capital adequacy ratio as per the Basel III guidelines as 

implemented by the Central Bank of the UAE. Banks are required to maintain minimum capital 

requirements at three levels, namely Common Equity Tier 1, Tier 1 and Total Capital. 

 

The Group’s regulatory capital is analysed into two tiers, in line with the Central Bank regulation: 

 

 Tier 1 capital, split into Common equity tier 1 (CET 1) which includes issued and paid-up share 

capital, retained earnings, statutory and legal reserves, accumulated other comprehensive income 

and Additional tier 1 (AT 1) comprising of instrument issued by banks which are eligible for 

inclusion in AT 1 and are not included in CET 1. 

 Tier 2 capital includes general provisions (Collective allowance for impairment subject to a limit 

of 1.25% of Credit Risk Weighted Assets). 

 Regulatory adjustment is applied in CET 1, AT 1 and Tier 2 capital consisting mainly of 

goodwill and other intangibles, deferred tax assets, cash flow hedge reserve. Additionally, 

threshold deduction is applied in case of exceeding the threshold limit. 

  
As per the Central bank regulation for Basel III, the capital requirement as at 31st December 2018 is 

12.375% inclusive of capital conservation buffer. This will increase to maximum of 13% inclusive of 

capital conservation buffer by year 2019. 

 

Capital management 

 

The Group’s capital resources policy is to maintain its capital base through the diversification of its 

sources of capital and the efficient allocation of capital. It seeks to maintain at all times a prudent 

relationship between its total capital, as measured according to the criteria used by Central Bank of the 

UAE and varied risk of its business. 

 

The Bank and its overseas branches and overseas banking subsidiary have complied with all externally 

imposed capital requirements throughout all period presented. 

 

There have been no material changes in Group’s management of capital during the year. 
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35 Capital management (continued) 

 

The table below shows the regulatory capital and capital charge calculated in accordance with the 

guidelines of the Central Bank of the UAE under Basel III. 

 

 2018 2017 

 AED’000 AED’000 

   

Capital Base:   
   
Tier 1 Capital   

Common Equity Tier 1 (CET 1) 16,292,470 16,740,054 

Additional Tier 1 capital (AT 1) 2,000,000 1,790,213 
                                           

   
Total (a) 18,292,470 18,530,267 

                                           
   
   
Eligible Tier 2 Capital (b) 1,202,370 1,169,349 
                                           
   
Total capital base (a) + (b) 19,494,840 19,699,616 

                                           
   
Risk-weighted assets:   

Credit Risk 96,189,570 94,330,905 

Market Risk 905,361 652,767 

Operational Risk 6,224,010 6,444,737 
                                           
   
Total risk-weighted assets (c) 103,318,941 101,428,409 

                                           

   

 

 

 

 

Capital ratio 

Minimum 

Capital 

Requirement 

2018 

 

 

 

2018 

 

 

 

2017 

    

Total capital ratio for consolidated Group 12.375% 18.9% 19.4% 

Tier 1 ratio only for consolidated Group 10.375% 17.7% 18.3% 

CET1 ratio only for consolidated Group 8.875% 15.8% 16.5% 
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36 Impairment allowance 

 

The movements in impairment allowance during the year are as follows:  

 
 2018  2017 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total  Collective Specific Total 

 impairment impairment impairment impairment  impairment impairment impairment 

 allowance allowance allowance allowance  allowance allowance allowance 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000  AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

         

At 1 January (as per IAS 39) 1,448,857 - 1,672,719 3,121,576  1,524,958 1,354,461 2,879,419 

Effect of change in accounting policy for IFRS 9 (641,930) 1,062,211 476,123 896,404  - - - 

 ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------  ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ 

At 1 January (restated as per IFRS 9) 806,927 1,062,211 2,148,842 4,017,980  1,524,958 1,354,461 2,879,419 

Charge for the year (net of write backs) (221,795) 243,364 932,315 953,884  (73,034) 1,059,189 986,155 

Transfers 138,266 (336,493) 198,227 -  (4,115) 4,115 - 

Amounts written off - - (1,108,985) (1,108,985)  - (747,222) (747,222) 

Foreign currency translation (299) (64) (8,161) (8,524)  1,048 2,176 3,224 

 ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------  ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ 

 723,099  969,018 2,162,238 3,854,355  1,448,857 1,672,719 3,121,576 
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36 Impairment allowance (continued) 
 

The table below shows allocation of impairment allowance:  
 

 2018  2017 

 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total  Collective Specific Total 

 impairment impairment impairment impairment  impairment impairment impairment 

 allowance allowance allowance allowance  allowance allowance allowance 

 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000  AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 

         

Due from banks 257 - - 257  - 104 104 

Loans and advances measured at amortised cost 688,132 951,666 2,157,388 3,797,186  1,448,857 1,661,797 3,110,654 

Investment securities at amortised cost 12,184 - - 12,184  -  - 
Other assets 3,870 396 3,056 7,322  - - - 
Letter of credit, financial guarantees and undrawn loan   

   commitments 18,656 16,956 1,794 37,406 

 

- 10,818 10,818 

 ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ ------------------  ------------------ ------------------ ------------------ 

 723,099  969,018 2,162,238 3,854,355  1,448,857 1,672,719 3,121,576 
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36 Impairment allowance (continued) 

 

Impairment reserve under the Central Bank of UAE (CBUAE) guidance 
 

The CBUAE issued its IFRS 9 guidance on 30 April 2018 via notice no. CBUAE/BSD/2018/458 

addressing various implementation challenges and practical implications for Banks adopting IFRS 9 in 

the UAE (“the guidance”). 

 

Pursuant to clause 6.4 of the guidance, the reconciliation between general and specific provision under 

Circular 28/2010 of CBUAE and IFRS 9 is as follows: 

 

  2018 

  AED’000 

   

   
   
Impairment reserve: General   

General provisions under Circular 28/2010 of CBUAE  1,442,844 

Less: Stage 1 and Stage 2 provisions under IFRS 9  1,639,798 
                       

   
General provision transferred to the impairment reserve*  - 
                       
   
Impairment reserve: Specific   
   
Specific provisions under Circular 28/2010 of CBUAE  2,043,783 
Less: Stage 3 provisions under IFRS 9  (2,157,388) 

   
                       
   

Specific provision transferred to the impairment reserve*  - 

                       

   

Total provision transferred to the impairment reserve  - 

                       

   

 

*In the case where provisions under IFRS 9 exceed provisions under CBUAE, no amount shall be 

transferred to the impairment reserve. 

 

 

37 Comparative figures 

 

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the presentation adopted in these 

consolidated financial statements, the effect of which are considered immaterial. 
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38 Subsequent events 

 

On January 29, 2019, the Boards of Directors of Union National Bank (“UNB”) and ADCB approved and 

recommended to the shareholders a merger of the two banks. 
 
The proposed merger will be executed through a statutory merger, with UNB shareholders receiving 

0.5966 ADCB shares for each UNB share they hold. As a result of the merger, ADCB shareholders will 

own approximately 76% of the combined bank while UNB shareholders will own approximately 24%. On 

the effective date of the merger, UNB shares will be delisted from the Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange. 

The combined bank will retain ADCB’s legal registrations. 
 
Further, the Boards of Directors of UNB and ADCB have also approved and recommended the 

acquisition of 100% of the issued share capital of Al Hilal Bank (“AHB”) by the combined bank by 

issuing a mandatory convertible note to AHB’s sole shareholder, Abu Dhabi Investment Council.  
 
However, the merger and acquisition are subject to approval from the shareholders of UNB, ADCB and 

AHB at their respective general assembly meetings and from relevant regulatory authorities. 
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